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what makes
A 2 stand out from
the herd?

Your patients are becoming more aware of nutrition. They want foods
that address their specific dietary needs. That’s why interest in a2 Milk™
is growing. Every drop comes fresh from A2 cows, so it’s rich in naturally
occurring A2 beta-casein protein. Studies suggest that milk containing
only the A2 type of protein may have a range of health benefits,1 particularly
for patients concerned with certain allergies,† immune function or digestive
wellbeing. a2 Milk™ is not genetically modified and is free from additives.

No ordinary cow. No ordinary milk.
1. Bell SJ, et al. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2006;46(1):93-100. †Apart from cow’s milk protein allergy

A2GE000028c

More than just good for you, it tastes great – like good old-fashioned milk.

To get the full A2 story & review clinical papers visit a2science.com or a2milk.com.au
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Dear Shareholder,

THE YEAR IN REVIEW
The Directors of A2 Corporation (“A2C” or “the
Company”) are pleased to present this report
and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2008. This report highlights the
Company’s continued positive momentum including
significant gains in milk sales in Australia and
substantial progress in the development of a2
Milk™ licensing opportunities in other key target
markets.
As a result of the continuing investment in new
markets, A2 Corporation (“A2C” or “the Company”)
recorded a Group pre-tax loss of $6.298 million,
compared to $5.125 million to 31 March 2007. Key
to this continued investment were expenses such as
marketing and intellectual property costs associated
with the Company’s ongoing expansion in North
America, Australia, and into Asia.
While a loss was recorded from an accounting
perspective the Directors see the expenditure as
investment in key parts of the Company’s business
which will, in the long term, benefit the Group
through increased revenue streams and ultimately
the generation of profits. A2C is still in the
important building phase where we have to keep
investing in our key assets, our joint ventures, and
marketing costs to grow our main existing market
of Australia and to establish new markets. We are

confident that this investment and our focus on
value added functional products will deliver profits
for the Company.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
For the year ended 31 March 2008, A2C recorded
a Group pre-tax loss of $6.3 million (compared to
$5.1 million to 31 March 2007) principally due to
continued investment in the development of markets
in North America, Australia, and Asia.
A2C’s revenue was $2.5 million, down from $7.5
million in 2007. This reduction was due to the
change in ownership structure and thus accounting
treatment for the Australian business, following
the formation of a new joint venture to operate the
business with Freedom Nutritional Products Pty
Limited (ASX: FNP) (Freedom).
The activities of the Australian business are now
reported as a net trading result rather than as
separate revenue and expenditure items as was
required under the previous Australian operation.
Sales in Australia were NZ$9.9 million in 2008
(NZ$7.5 million in 2007). Excitingly, sales in
Australia for May 2008 were NZ$1.7 million
compared with average monthly sales during 2007
of NZ$630,000. This growth in revenue indicates
a major turnaround in the performance of our
Australian business. This is discussed further below.

Other indicators of growth were a lift in A2C’s
revenue from continuing activities to $1.5 million
(compared with $24,000 in 2007). This mainly
reflects licence agreement fees from Australia and
Korea, as well as royalties from Australia and New
Zealand and management fees.
Of the net loss of $6.3 million, $3.7 million reflects
expenses relating to the Australian business alone,
including the write-off of $400k of goodwill when
the business was sold into the joint venture with
Freedom. Importantly, Australia is projected to
achieve breakeven on a monthly basis in the next
few months, so the contribution to the loss resulting
from the investment in Australia reflected in the
2008 result will be vastly reduced if not eliminated
in the current financial year.
Other non-continuing expenses include interest of
$490,000 that will reduce following the planned
rights issue, and a fee paid to PwC for their strategic
review of $160,000.
A2C continued to invest in developing the US
market and allocated $580,000 for this. A total of
$290,000 was also spent on R&D during 2008.
The balance of A2C expenses reflect the overhead
and investment expenditure required to maintain
existing businesses and develop new markets, in
particular Korea.

A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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KEY HIGHLIGHTS
There were some outstanding highlights for A2C
in the past financial year including big increases
in volumes of a2 Milk™ sold in Australia. Asia
continues to demonstrate exceptional potential
as a collection of diverse yet vast markets. Asian
consumers are receptive to new healthy and
nutritious premium beverages such as a2 Milk™,
as well as providing opportunities for other product
lines such as milk powder and infant formula, which
the Group is actively investigating.
Following the signing of a fresh milk licence in Korea
with Lotte Milk, A2C have seen more opportunities
flow to the Group. A2C expect to capitalise even
further on these opportunities in the current and
subsequent financial periods.

CONTINUED

Furthermore, our May 2008 sales have increased
to over 885,000 litres, almost triple the sales
compared to a year ago (on a monthly basis). A2C
see this increase in sales as a significant step
towards the Company’s goal of attaining sustainable
future profitability in Australia.
The achievements in Australia have been the result
of a large investment in brand building advertising,
extensive positive publicity for a2 Milk™ and a
growing consumer awareness of the benefits of a2
Milk™ for medical conditions such as heart disease,
autism and the reduction in the incidence of
childhood diabetes.

The new “No Ordinary Cow, No Ordinary Milk” media
campaign has increased both sales volume and
consumer awareness of a2 Milk™. This successful
campaign also helped consumers in general to
focus on a2 Milk™’s “specially selected cows” that
produced high quality milk with a great taste. The
dual message has positioned a2 Milk™ as a dairy
product that appeals to mainstream consumers
who are increasingly health conscious, as well as
consumers with particular health conditions. The
success of this broader marketing message gives
A2C great confidence going forward into new
international markets.

AUSTRALIA
In June 2007, the A2 Australian business,
previously owned solely by A2C, transitioned into
a 50/50 joint venture with Freedom Nutritional
Products Ltd (ASX:FNP)(Freedom), a leading
Australian manufacturer, marketer and distributor of
functional and nutritional products. There were some
outstanding highlights for the new joint venture
including a large increase in the volume of a2 Milk™
sold in Australia, presently A2C’s largest market.
The Australian monthly sales volume went from
305,000 litres per month in April 2007 to
600,000 in March 2008, a 97% percent increase.
4
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A2C CEO, Anthony
Lawler and Freedom
Nutritional Products
CEO, Peter Nathan in a
Coles Store in Australia.
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Freedom’s excellent relationships with retailers
and its expertise in reducing supply chain and
distribution costs have been and will continue to be
beneficial to the Australian business.

CONTINUED

NORTH AMERICA
The North American market continues to provide
valuable consumer feedback for A2C’s joint venture,
A2 Milk Company (A2MC) since the test launch of
a2 Milk™ in April 2007.

SOUTH KOREA
South Korea is seen as a key Asian market due to its
high per capita consumption of milk among Asian
countries and dairy products, especially its growing
consumer demand for premium offerings.
In October 2007, A2C signed an exclusive fresh
milk licence with Lotte Milk, a large South Korean
dairy company with annual turnover of over
NZ$400 million and one of the most recognised
and respected brands in South Korea. Lotte Milk’s
milk, yoghurt and drinking yoghurt products are
distributed nationwide via leading supermarkets
and convenience stores. Since late last year A2C
have been working closely with Lotte Milk to
prepare for the launch of Lotte a2 Milk™ due in
the next three months. Lotte has committed to both
a guaranteed royalty level as well as a guaranteed
marketing spend to promote the Lotte a2 Milk™
brand. The initial license arrangement with Lotte
Milk will generate positive cash flows from South
Korea almost immediately and A2C expect there
is opportunity to expand this relationship further
into other dairy products in partnership with Lotte.
A2C sees South Korea as a showcase to other Asian
countries.

A2C management believes that A2MC is making
good progress towards understanding the US market
via its test market in the American Mid-West. We
now have a much better understanding of the
dynamics of the American market, in particular
the consumer response to different forms of
publicity and advertising. A2C also have a greater
understanding of consumer’s response to different
retail price points and, most importantly, the
consumer and retailer response to a new value added
milk proposition.
We were very proud when A2MC’s licensee, The
Original Foods Company (TOFC) received the
award for “Best New Product of 2007 (special
needs category)” from the prestigious Dairy Foods
magazine for TOFC’s a2 Milk™ product. It is
tremendously rewarding to be recognized by the
main stream FMCG industry.

JAPAN
A2C is actively working on expansion into Japan
via the joint venture with Freedom. The Company
has used Freedom’s extensive experience in Japan
to identify potential licensees in Japan. We are
very pleased to have the advantage of Freedom’s

expertise in the Japanese market to engage with
multiple dairy and food companies regarding the a2
Milk™ opportunity. A2C sees Freedom’s networks in
Japan allowing us to expedite our commercialisation
of a2 Milk™.
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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CONTINUED

EUROPEAN FOOD SAFETY AUTHORITY REVIEW

CAPITAL RAISING

In February 2008, the New Zealand Food Safety
Authority (NZFSA) announced two reviews relating
to A1/A2 milk. Firstly a “structural” review was
conducted for the NZFSA by Dr Slorach, (a former
senior executive of the European Food Safety
Authority). This report was released in April 2008
and focused on the NZFSA’s handling of the initial
2004 review of the health effects of A1 and A2
milk. A2C supports Dr Slorach’s findings that there
were shortcomings in the procedures of the NZFSA’s
handling of the 2004 review and that the NZFSA
did not take any specific action to encourage more
debate.

As a result of the recent strategic review, the
Company has decided to undertake a renounceable
rights issue of $11.3 million. This rights issue will
be subject to shareholder approval at a Special
General Meeting being held on 18 July 2008.
Details of the rights issue background was provided
to shareholders via the notice of meeting sent on
11 July 2008.

Secondly and most significantly, the European Food
Safety Authority has announced that it will review
the science around health claims of A1 and A2 milk
and the effects of dietary milk intake. The Company
looks forward to the outcome of this comprehensive
and independent review undertaken by such a
recognised and highly regarded food safety authority.
The author of the initial 2004 NZFSA report,
Professor Boyd Swinburn, Professor of Population
Health, Deakin University in Melbourne has recently
stated in an open letter to New Zealand dairy
farmers that while more research is required “the
evidence is certainly strong enough [for dairy
farmers] to take action by shifting herds to the A2
variant.”
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opportunities for the Company. The momentum
gained in the last 12 months is encouraging,
however the focus for the Board and management is
the drive towards long term sustainable profitability.

LOOKING AHEAD
Again we pay our sincere thanks to the enormous
efforts and many contributions from all A2C
staff and stakeholders in forging many important
milestones for the Group over the year in review.
A2C are imbued with a sense of enthusiasm and
excitement given the opportunities that await A2C
in existing and new markets all around the world. In
many ways the a2 Milk™ story and success is just
beginning. It is the Director’s expectation that we
can bring you, our loyal shareholders, news of more
and greater successes in the year ahead.
A2C is confident that it has an exciting year
ahead with key developments in its main markets
including a launch of a2 Milk™ in Korea in 2008
and continued successes in Australia and USA. A2C
will continue to develop licensing and distribution
opportunities for a2 Milk™ in new markets and
new product categories such as a2 Milk™ powder.
We will continue to build relationships with
potential licensees that will lead to further revenue

Cliff Cook
Chairman

Anthony Lawler
CEO

14 July 2008

14 July 2008

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors of A2 Corporation Limited are pleased
to present to shareholders the financial statements
for A2 Corporation Limited for the year to 31 March
2008.

assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the
financial statements.
The Financial Statements are signed on behalf of
the Board by:

The Directors are responsible for presenting financial
statements in accordance with New Zealand law and
generally accepted accounting practice, which give
a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company as at 31 March 2008 and the results of its
operations and cash flows for the year ended on that
date.
The Directors consider the financial statements of
the Company have been prepared using accounting
policies which have been consistently applied and
supported by reasonable judgements and estimates
and that all relevant financial reporting and
accounting standards have been followed.

C J Cook

A P Hinton

14 July 2008

14 July 2008

The Directors believe that proper accounting records
have been kept which enable with reasonable
accuracy, the determination of the financial position
of the company and facilitate compliance of the
financial statements with the Financial Reporting
Act 1993.
The Directors consider that they have taken
adequate steps to safeguard the assets of the
Company, and to prevent and detect fraud and other
irregularities. Internal control procedures are also
considered to be sufficient to provide a reasonable
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

1,498,638
194,779
91,785

24,110
364
49,753

1,498,638
262,113
223,790

24,110
382,530
165,242

(15,644)
(1,112,148)
(612,971)
(72,251)
(158,154)
(323,379)
(292,643)
(320,183)
(910,218)
(823,163)
(2,496,224)

(20,410)
(906,846)
(34,671)
(127,892)
(97,976)
(164,050)
(96,683)
(93,099)
(1,279,682)
(329,115)

(15,644)
(1,112,148)
(612,893)
(72,251)
(158,154)
(323,379)
(292,643)
(320,183)
(910,218)
(809,694)
-

(20,410)
(906,846)
(34,671)
(127,892)
(97,976)
(164,050)
(96,683)
(93,099)
(1,262,046)
-

5

(5,351,776)
(5,351,776)

(3,076,197)
(3,076,197)

(2,642,666)
(2,642,666)

(2,231,791)
(2,231,791)

4

(946,445)

(2,048,732)

-

-

Notes

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue
Other operating income
Investment revenue
Depreciation expense
Employee benefits expense
Finance costs
Legal expenses
Marketing costs
Patents & trademarks
Research & development
Travel & accommodation
Underwriting expenses
Other expenses
Share of loss of associates
Profit/(loss) before tax
Income tax expense
Profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations

3.1
3.2
3.3

3.4

26.2
3.5
26.4

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE
TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
$(6,298,221) $(5,124,929)
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$(2,642,666) $(2,231,791)

INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Notes

2008

2007

Cents per

Cents per

Share

Share

17
17

(3.54)
(3.31)

(2.04)
(1.97)

17
17

(0.63)
(0.59)

(1.36)
(1.31)

From continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted
From discontinued operations:
Basic
Diluted

STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Notes

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

Foreign exchange currency expense recognised directly in equity

20

(124,509)

(9,526)

-

-

Net profit/(loss) for the year

19

(6,298,221)

(5,124,929)

(2,642,666)

(2,231,791)

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME & EXPENSES ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDER OF THE PARENT

$(6,422,730) $(5,134,455)

$(2,642,666) $(2,231,791)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 MARCH 2008

Notes

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash & short term deposits
Accounts receivable
Prepayments
Inventories
Current tax assets
Advances to subsidiaries

8
9
10
5
25

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

113,613
188,597
4,996
40,286
-

371,798
2,233,915
54,238
138,977
47,028
-

100
533,397
4,571
37,987
-

68,240
126,063
43,602
37,724
2,836,892

347,492

2,845,956

576,055

3,112,521

35,051
24,197
401,282

69,628
392,654
12,301
344,741

35,051
5,597,503
1,405,834

43,671
12,414
900,301

460,530

819,324

7,038,388

956,386

$808,022

$3,665,280

$7,614,443

$4,068,907

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant & equipment
Intangible assets
Investments
Investment in associates

11
12
13
26

Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS
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BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

413,523
93,229
7,924,416

1,939,181
3,081,053

361,665
93,229
7,924,416

345,646
2,000,000

Total current liabilities

8,431,168

5,020,234

8,379,310

2,345,646

Total liabilities

8,431,168

5,020,234

8,379,310

2,345,646

Notes

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Prepaid income
Borrowings

14
15

OWNERS EQUITY
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital
Retained earnings (deficit)
Foreign currency translation reserve
Employee equity settled payments reserve
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

16
19
20
21

21,193,512
21,193,512
(28,902,161) (22,603,940)
(134,035)
(9,526)
219,538
65,000

21,193,512
21,193,512
(22,177,917) (19,535,251)
219,538
65,000

(7,623,146)

1,354,954

(764,867)

1,723,261

$808,022

$3,665,280

$7,614,443

$4,068,907

TOTAL LIABILITIES & OWNERS EQUITY

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors, which authorise the issue of the financial report on the 14th day of July 2008.

C J Cook
Director

G P Hinton
Director
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

3,241,296
25,849
108,426

191,740
2,719
108,426

(6,762,797)
(292,644)
(519,358)
(2,562)

5,252,652
50,071
6,997
(10,279,698)
(96,683)
(89,190)
(45,958)

(3,845,434)
(292,644)
(488,925)
(263)

497,014
165,242
364
6,633
(2,479,649)
(96,683)
(27,893)
(36,654)

(4,201,790)

(5,201,809)

(4,324,381)

(1,971,626)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from (applied to):
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment
Proceeds from disposal of assets in A2 Exports Pty Limited
Payment for property, plant & equipment
Purchase of assets in A2 Exports Pty Limited
Purchase of shares in A2 Exports Pty Limited
Funds advanced to A2 Milk Company LLC
Payment for convertible notes in A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited

18,946
1
(7,540)
(351,530)
(575,872)

50
(48,313)
(392,654)
(304,372)
-

101
(7,540)
(4,146,076)
(351,530)
-

50
(15,282)
(113)
(304,372)
-

Net cash inflow (outflow) from investing activities

(915,995)

(745,289)

(4,505,045)

(319,717)

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash was provided from (applied to):
Trading revenue
Interest received
Other income
Taxation refund received (net)
Payments to suppliers & employees
Research costs
Interest paid
RWT paid
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

Cash was provided from (applied to):
Intercompany loans

-

-

2,836,892

(2,836,892)

Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing activities

-

-

2,836,892

(2,836,892)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash & short term deposits

(5,117,785)

(5,947,098)

(5,992,534)

(5,128,235)

Cash & short term deposits at the beginning of the year
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

(2,709,255)
16,237

3,196,475
41,368

(1,931,760)
(22)

3,196,475
-

Notes

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Cash and short term deposits at the end of the year

$(7,810,803) $(2,709,255)

$(7,924,316) $(1,931,760)

COMPRISED OF:
Cash & short term deposits
Less bank overdraft

8
15

113,613
(7,924,416)

371,798
(3,081,053)

$(7,810,803) $(2,709,255)

100
(7,924,416)

68,240
(2,000,000)

$(7,924,316) $(1,931,760)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

nearest dollar unless otherwise stated.

appropriate for profit-oriented entities.

A2 Corporation Limited (“A2” or “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) is a profitoriented entity incorporated and domiciled in New
Zealand.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a
manner which ensures that the resulting financial
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and
reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the
underlying transactions or other events is reported.

Compliance with NZ IFRS ensures that the financial
statements comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).

The principal activity of the Company is the
ownership and licensing of intellectual property that
enables the identification of cattle for the production
and subsequent marketing of a2 Milk™ related
products. The company also sources and supplies a2
Milk™ in Australia through its 50% interest in A2
Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited.
A2 Corporation Limited is an issuer for the purposes
of the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and its financial
statements comply with that Act and the Companies
Act 1993. The shares of A2 Corporation Limited are
publicly traded on the NZAX Market.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the
basis of historical cost except for the revaluation of
certain financial instruments. Cost is based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.
The financial statements are presented in New
Zealand dollars and all values are rounded to the

The Company changed its accounting policies on 1
April 2007 to comply with NZ IFRS. The transition
to NZ IFRS is accounted for in accordance with
NZ IFRS-1 ‘First-time Adoption of New Zealand
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards’, with 1 April 2006 as the date of
transition. An explanation of how the transition from
superseded policies to NZ IFRS has affected the
Company’s Balance Sheet, Income Statement and
Cash Flow Statement is discussed in note 38.
The accounting policies set out below have been
applied consistently to all periods presented in these
financial statements and in preparing an opening
NZ IFRS Balance Sheet as at 1 April 2006 for the
purpose of the transition to NZ IFRS.
2.2. Statement of Compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice in New Zealand (“NZ GAAP”). They comply
with the New Zealand Equivalents to International
Financial Reporting Standards (“NZ IFRS”) and
other applicable financial reporting standards as

2.3 Standards & Interpretations Not Yet Effective
Standards and interpretations that have been issued
or amended but are not yet effective and have not
been adopted are as follows:
NZ IFRS-8
Title
Operating segments.
Summary

Specifies how an entity should report
information about its operating
segments in annual financial reports.

Application Date of Standard
1 January 2009
Impact on Financial Report
NZ IFRS-8 is a disclosure standard
so will have no direct impact on the
amounts included in the financial
statements. However, the amendments
may result in changes to the operating
segments disclosures included in the
financial report.
Application Date for Group
1 April 2009
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

NZ IFRS-3
Title
Business combinations – (revised
standard).

NZ IAS-27
Title
Consolidated and separate financial
statements (amended standard).

Summary

Summary

Specifies how an entity should
report information about its business
combinations in annual financial
reports, that will impact the amount
of goodwill recognised, the reported
results in the period that an acquisition
occurs, and future reported results.

Application Date of Standard
1 July 2009
Impact on Financial Report
NZ IFRS-3 introduces a number of
changes in the accounting for business
combinations that must be applied
prospectively and will affect future
acquisitions and transactions with
minority interests.
Application Date for Group
1 April 2010

Requires that a change in ownership
interest of a subsidiary is accounted
for as an equity transaction. Therefore
such a change will have no impact on
goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain
or loss. Furthermore, the amendment
standard changes the accounting for
losses incurred by subsidiary as well as
the loss of control of subsidiary.

Application Date of Standard
1 July 2009
Impact on Financial Report
NZ IAS-27 must be applied
prospectively and will affect future
acquisitions and transactions with
minority interest.
Application Date for Group
1 April 2010
NZ IFRS-2
Title
Share-based payments: Vesting
conditions and cancellations.
Summary
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Restricts the definition of ‘vesting
condition’ to a condition that includes

explicit or implicit requirement to
provide services. Any other conditions
are non-vesting conditions, which have
to be taken into account to determine
the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. In the case that the option
does not vest as the result of a failure
to meet a non-vesting condition, that
is within the control of either the
entity or the counterparty, this must be
accounted for as a cancellation.
Application Date of Standard
1 January 2009
Impact on Financial Report
NZ IFRS-2 will not impact significantly
on the financial statements as the
Group has not entered into sharedbased schemes with non-vesting
conditions attached.
Application Date for Group
1 April 2009
NZ IAS-23
Title
Borrowing costs (revised standard).
Summary

Requires all borrowing costs
associated with a qualifying asset to be
capitalised.
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Application Date of Standard
1 January 2009
Impact on Financial Report
NZ IFRS-23 will have no impact on the
financial statements of the Group as
there are no borrowing costs associated
with qualifying assets.
Application Date for Group
1 April 2009
NZ IAS-1
Title

Summary

Presentation of financial statements –
revised standard.
Specifies presentation requirements for
financial reporting.

Application Date of Standard
1 January 2009
Impact on Financial Report
NZ IAS-1 will have no impact on the
amounts included in the financial
statements but will change the
presentation previously used in the
financial report.
Application Date for Group
1 April 2009
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2.4 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
In the application of NZ IFRS management is
required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of the judgements. Actual results may differ
from these estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
2.5 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
Judgements made by management in the application
of NZ IFRS that have significant effects on the
financial statements and estimates with a significant
risk of material adjustments in the next year are
disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to
the financial statements.
Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty include:
– Estimating the remaining useful life of various
items of property, plant and equipment. If
the useful life does not reflect the actual
consumption of the benefits of the assets, the

Directors could be over or under estimating the
depreciation charge recognised as an expense in
the income statement.
– Applying the Going Concern Assumption - (refer
to Note 33).
– Estimating the carrying value of associates.
Investments in associates are carried in
the consolidated balance sheet at cost less
any impairment in the value of individual
investments.
– Assessment of impairment of goodwill and
indefinite life intangibles.
– Assessment of investment in A2 Exports Pty
Limited.
– Estimation of fair value of share based payments
(refer to Note 18).
– Recognition of deferred tax (refer to Note 5).
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated
and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be measurable under the
circumstances.
2.6 Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control
is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
The Group has no minority interests.
2.7 Business Combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are
accounted for using the purchase method. The
cost of the business combination is measured as
the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of
exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree,
plus any costs directly attributable to the business
combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the
conditions for recognition under IFRS-3 Business
Combinations are recognised at their fair values at
the acquisition date, except for non-current assets
(or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS-5 Non-current Assets
18
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Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which
are recognised and measured at fair value less costs
to sell.
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as
an asset and initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the cost of the business combination
over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the
business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
2.8 Investments in Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee but is
not control or joint control over these policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates
are incorporated in these financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when the
investment is classified as held for sale, in which
case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS-5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. Under the equity method, investments
in associates are carried in the consolidated balance

sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition
changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of
the associate, less any impairment in the value
of individual investments. Losses of an associate
in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate
(which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the associate) are recognised only to the extent
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
associate recognised at the date of acquisition is
recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included
within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of that investment.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
Where a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant
associate.
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2.9 Discontinued Operations
A discontinued operation is a component of an entity
or Group that has been disposed of during the period
which was material to the entity or Group (refer note
4); or is classified as held for sale and represents a
separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations; is part of a single co-ordinated plan
to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
2.10 Property, Plant and Equipment
All items of Property, Plant and Equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation, and
impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In
the event that settlement of all or part of a purchase
consideration is deferred, cost is determined by
discounting the amounts payable in the future to
their present value as at the date of acquisition.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These
are included in the Income Statement.
Depreciation is provided on property, plant and
equipment.
Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value
basis so as to write off the net cost of the asset over
its expected useful life to its estimated residual
value. The following estimates useful lives are used
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in the calculation of depreciation:
Furniture and fittings
Office and computer equipment

5–10 years
3–10 years

2.11 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary
or a jointly controlled entity represents the excess
of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary
or jointly controlled entity recognised at the date of
acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an
asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination. Cash-generating units to
which goodwill has been allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there
is an indication that the unit may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled
entity, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the profit or loss on
disposal.
The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the
acquisition of an associate is described under
“Investments in Associates” above.
2.12 Intangible Assets
Patents & Trademarks
Costs relating to the establishment and maintenance
of the Company’s patents and trademarks are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred. No internally generated intangible
asset can be recognised, therefore all expenditure
in relation to patents and trademarks needs to be
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.
Intellectual Property
The cost of intellectual property is written off until
such time as it becomes clear that future economic
benefits attributable to that expenditure will flow to
the Company and where there is sufficient evidence
to support the probability of the expenditure
generating sufficient future economic benefits.
Intellectual property, including patents, trademarks
and licenses is considered a finite life intangible
asset and are recorded at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is charged on a straight
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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line basis over the estimated useful life of the
intangible asset and tested for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired (refer Note 2.13).
Research & Development Costs
If no internally generated intangible asset can
be recognised all expenditure on research and
development activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.
An intangible asset arising from development (or
from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following are
demonstrated:
– The technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use
or sale
– The intention to complete the intangible asset
and use or sell it
– The ability to use or sell the intangible asset
– How the intangible asset will generate probable
future economic benefits
– The availability of adequate technical, financial
and other resources to complete the development
and to use or sell the intangible asset
– The ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during the
development.
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Following the initial recognition of the development
expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Any expenditure so capitalised is amortised over the
period of expected benefit from the related project.
The carrying value of an intangible asset arising from
development expenditure is tested for impairment
annually when the asset is not yet available for use,
or more frequently when an indication of impairment
arises during the reporting period.
2.13 Impairment of Assets
At each balance sheet date, the Company reviews
the carrying amounts of its assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does
not generate cash flows that are independent from
other assets, the Company estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the

risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (cashgenerating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss immediately, unless the asset is carried at
fair value, in which case the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation decrease.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately unless the asset is carried at fair value,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.
2.14 Share-Based Payment Transactions
Equity Settled Transactions
The Group has an ownership-based compensation
scheme for executives, senior employees and key
contractors of the Group.
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In accordance with the provisions of the plan
executives, senior employees and key contracts
with the Group may be granted options to purchase
ordinary shares. Each employee share option
converts to one ordinary share of A2 Corporation
Limited on exercise. No amounts are paid or payable
by the recipient on receipt of the option (equity
settled transactions).
There are currently two plans in place to provide
these benefits:
– The Old Scheme (OS), which provides benefits
to Directors, employees and other persons
via Option Scheme Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company;
– The New Employee Share Option Plan (NESOP),
which provides benefits to key employees.
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using the Black-Scholes-Merton
option pricing, further details of which are given in
Note 18.4.
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account
is taken of any vesting conditions, other than
conditions linked to the price of the shares of A2
Corporation Limited if applicable.
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The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the service conditions are
fulfilled (the vesting period), ending on the date on
which the relevant employees become fully entitled
to the option (the vesting date).
At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the
cumulative charge to the income statement is the
product of:
i) The grant date fair value of the option;
ii) The current best estimate of the number of
awards that will vest, taking into account such
factors as the likelihood of employee turnover
during the vesting period and the likelihood of
non-market performance conditions being met;
and
iii) The expired portion of the vesting period.
The charge to the income statement for the period is
the cumulative amount as calculated above less the
amounts already charged in previous periods. There
is a corresponding entry to equity.
Until an option has vested, any amounts recorded
are contingent and will be adjusted if more or fewer
option vest than were originally anticipated to do
so. Any option subject to a market condition is
considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that
market condition is fulfilled, provided that all other
conditions are satisfied.

If the terms of an equity-settled option are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the
terms had not been modified. An additional expense
is recognised for any modification that increases
the total fair value of the share-based payment
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee, as measured at the date of modification.
If an equity-settled option is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the option is
recognised immediately. However, if a new option is
substituted for the cancelled option and designated
as a replacement option on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new option are treated as
if they were a modification of the original option, as
described in the previous paragraph.
The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options
is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of diluted earnings per share. Refer
Note 17.
2.15 Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair
value of the consideration received or receivable
to the extent it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
can be reliably measured. The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue
is recognised. Refer Note 3.
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Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
the Company has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods.
Interest Revenue
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to
that asset’s net carrying amount.
Other Income
Royalty income is recognised on an accrual basis
in accordance with the substance of the relevant
agreement.
Licence fee income is spread over the term of the
licence where there is a specified termination date.
Where the licence fee is for an indefinite period,
income is recognised when received.
2.16 Segment Reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and
operations engaged in providing products or services
that are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.
A geographical segment is engaged in providing
22

A2 CORPORATION LIMITED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

products or services in a particular economic
environment, where the risks and returns are
different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.
The group’s primary reporting format is geographic
segments.
2.17 Borrowing Costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in the Income
Statement in the period in which they are incurred.
2.18 Taxation
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current
and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities based on the current period’s
taxable income. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all
taxable temporary differences except:
– When the deferred income tax liability arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a

business combination and that, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; or
– When the taxable temporary difference is
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates or interests in joint ventures, and the
timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, carry-forward or
unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:
– When the deferred income tax assets relating to
the deductible temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; or
– When the deductible temporary difference is
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates or interests in joint ventures, in which
case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that the temporary
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difference will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are
reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation
authority.
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2.19 Goods & Services Tax (GST)
All items in the balance sheet are stated exclusive of
GST, with the exception of receivables and payables,
which include GST. All items in the income
statement are stated exclusive of GST.
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement
on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows
arising from investing and financing activities which
is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority is classified as operating cash flows.
2.20 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and
those overheads that have been incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution.
2.21 Financial Assets
Investments are initially measured at fair value,
plus, in the case of assets not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

delivery of the investment within the timeframe
established by the market concerned.
Financial assets are classified into the following
specified categories: financial assets at ‘fair value
through profit or loss’ (FVTPL) and ‘loans and
receivables’. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.
The Group does not currently hold any financial
assets that are classified as ‘held-to-maturity’, or
‘available-for-sale’.
i) Effective Interest Method
The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on point paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period.
Income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments other than those financial
assets designated as at FVTPL.

Investments are recognised and derecognised
on trade date where the purchase or sale of an
investment is under a contract whose terms require
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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ii) Financial Assets at FVTPL
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where
the financial asset is either held for trading or is
designated as at FVTPL.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
– It has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near future; or
– It is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or
– It is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
A financial asset other than a financial asset held
for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:
– Such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or
– The financial asset forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both,
which is managed and for which performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
– It forms part of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and IAS-39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and
24
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Measurement permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.
Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in Note 36.
iii) Loans & Receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables
that have fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market are classified as
loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any impairment. Interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables
when the recognition of interest would be
immaterial.
iv) Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are
assessed for indicators of impairment at each
balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cashflows of the investment have been
impacted.

For unlisted shares classified as AFS, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence
of impairment.
For all other financial assets, including redeemable
notes classified as AFS and finance lease
receivables, objective evidence of impairment could
include:
– Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or
– Default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; or
– It becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
For certain categories of financial asset, such as
trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period of 30 days, as well as observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value
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of estimated future cashflows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is
reduced by the impairment loss directly for
all financial assets with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When
a trade receivable is considered uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss.
With the exception of AFS equity instruments,
if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
investment at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not been recognised.
In respect of AFS equity securities, impairment
losses previously recognised through profit or loss
are not reversed through profit or loss. Any increase
in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is
recognised directly in equity.
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v) Derecognition of Financial Assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cashflows from the
asset expire; or it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
2.22 Financial Liabilities & Equity Instruments Issued
by the Group
i) Classification as Debt or Equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement.
ii) Equity Instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
iii) Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial

liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.
iv) Financial Liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where
the financial liability is either held for trading or it is
designated as at FVTPL.
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
– It has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near future; or
– It is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual patter of short-term profittaking; or
– It is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.
A financial liability other than a financial liability
held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL
upon initial recognition if:
– Such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or
– The financial liability forms part of a group
of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group’s documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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– It forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IAS-39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
permits the entire combined contract (asset or
liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value,
with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial
liability. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in Note 36.
v) Other Financial Liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are
initially measured at fair value, net of transaction
costs.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an
effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period.
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vi) Derecognition of Financial Liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or they expire.
2.23 Investments
Investments are recognised and derecognised on
a trade date basis where the purchase or sale of
an investment is under a contract whose terms
require delivery of the investment within the
timeframe established by the market concerned,
and are initially measured at fair value, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.
At subsequent reporting dates, debt securities
that the Group has the expressed intention and
ability to hold to maturity (held-to-maturity debt
securities) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method, less any impairment
loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts.
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset
is impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the investment’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the effective interest rate computed
at initial recognition. Impairment losses are
reversed in subsequent periods when an increase
in the investment’s recoverable amount can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction
that the carrying amount of the investment at the

date the impairment is reversed shall not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
Investments other than held-to-maturity debt
securities are classified as either investments held
for trading or as available-for-sale, and are measured
at subsequent reporting dates at fair value. Where
securities are held for trading purposes, gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period. For available-for-sale
investments, gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value are recognised directly in equity, until
the security is disposed of or is determined to be
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in equity is included in
the profit or loss for the period. Impairment losses
recognised in profit or loss for equity investments
classified as available-for-sale are not subsequently
reversed through profit or loss. Impairment losses
recognised in profit or loss for debt instruments
classified as available-for-sale are subsequently
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the
instrument can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.
Investments in publicly traded companies are
recorded at reporting date at fair value. No
investments in publicly traded companies are held
for trading.
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2.24 Provisions & Employee Benefits
Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
When the Group expects some or all of a provision
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement
is virtually certain. The expense relating to any
provision is presented in the income statement net
of any reimbursement.
Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the
balance sheet date using a discounted cashflow
methodology. The risks specific to the provision are
factored into the cashflows and as such a risk-free
government bond rate relative to the expected life of
the provision is used as a discount rate. If the effect
of the time value of money is material, provisions
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that
reflects the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision
resulting from the passage of time is recognised in
finance costs.
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Employee Leave Benefits
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including nonmonetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating
sick leave expected to be settled within 12 months
of the reporting date are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the reporting date. They
are measured at the amounts expected to be paid
when the liabilities are settled. Expenses for nonaccumulating sick leave are recognised when the
leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or
payable.
2.25 Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is or
contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whether
the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent
on the use of a specific asset or assets and the
arrangement conveys a right to use the asset - Refer
to Note 22.
Group as a Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense in the income statement on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Operating lease incentives
are recognised as a liability when received and
subsequently reduced by allocating lease payments
between rental expense and reduction of the
liability.

2.26 Foreign Currency
i) Functional & Presentation Currency
Both the functional and presentation currency
of A2 Corporation Limited and its New Zealand
subsidiaries is New Zealand Dollars ($).
The United States associates’ functional currency
is United States Dollars which is translated to
presentation currency.
The Australian subsidiaries and associates functional
currency is Australian Dollars which is translated to
presentation currency (see below).
ii) Foreign Currency Transactions
The individual financial statements of each group
entity are presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates
(its functional currency). For the purpose of the
consolidated financial statements, the results and
financial position of each entity are expressed in
Currency Units, which is the functional currency of
the Company, and the presentation currency for the
consolidated financial statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the
individual entities, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign
currencies) are recorded at the rate of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
each reporting date, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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prevailing on the reporting date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise except that:
– exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation
for which settlement is neither planned or
likely to occur, which form part of the net
investment in a foreign operation, are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve and
recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the net
investment.
iii) Foreign Operations
The assets and liabilities of the entity’s overseas
operations are translated at exchange rates
prevailing at the reporting date. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period unless exchange rates fluctuate
significantly. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve, and recognised in profit or loss on disposal
of the foreign operation.
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Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.
2.27 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and other short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value.
2.28 Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to
exclude any costs of servicing equity (other than
dividends) and preference share dividends, divided
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares,
adjusted for options that can be exercised at less
than the current market price.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated as net profit
attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for:
– costs of servicing equity (other than dividends)
and preference share dividends;
– the after tax effect of dividends and interest
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares
that have been recognised as expenses; and
– other non-discretionary changes in revenues or
expenses during the period that would result from
the dilution of potential ordinary shares;

divided by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares and dilutive potential ordinary shares,
adjusted for options that can be exercised at less
than the current market price. Refer to Note 17.
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3. SURPLUS FROM OPERATIONS
Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

64,177
1,434,461

24,110
-

64,177
1,434,461

24,110
-

1,498,638

24,110

1,498,638

24,110

1,008,029

7,515,901

-

-

$2,506,667

$7,540,011

$1,498,638

$24,110

86,239
100,610
7,930

364

153,573
100,610
7,930

382,166
364

$194,779

$364

$262,113

$382,530

3.1 Revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year, for both continuing and
discontinued operations, is as follows:
Continuing operations
Milk royalties
Licence fees

Discontinued operations
Milk sales

3.2 Other Income
Other income from operations consisted of the following items:
Continuing operations
Management fees
Research grant
Other

A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

6,861
89,066

50,069
-

2,719
221,071
-

49,753
115,489
-

$95,927

$50,069

$223,790

$165,242

91,785
4,142

49,753
316

$95,927

$50,069

514,120
75,000
56,907

89,088
34,096

488,925
75,000
48,968

27,893
6,778

$646,027

$123,184

$612,893

$34,671

612,971
33,056

34,671
88,513

$646,027

$123,184

3.3 Interest Income
Interest on bank deposits
Interest from subsidiaries
Interest from investment in Joint Venture

Attributable to:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

3.4 Finance Costs
Interest on borrowings
Loan fees
Bank fees & charges

Attributable to:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
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Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

52,013
(6,965)
88,000
6,952
418
78,095
58,407
558,139
(11,896)

26,275
1,809
75,000
194,783
40,000
332,632
85
64,397
45,565
10,162
35,960
449,425
3,589

52,013
(6,965)
88,000
(36,043)
418
78,095
58,407
587,665
(11,896)

26,275
1,809
75,000
194,783
40,000
332,632
85
64,397
45,565
10,162
35,960
431,789
3,589

$823,163

$1,279,682

$809,694

$1,262,046

3.5 Other Expenses
Audit fees
Bad & doubtful debts (recoveries)
Directors’ fees
Foreign exchange loss/(gain)
Guarantee fee
Licence termination payment
Loss on disposal, plant and equipment
Office expenses (postage, printing & phone)
Operating leases - minimum lease payments
Realised loss on investment
Royalties paid
Other expenses
Changes in fair value of financial asset designated as at FVTPL
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4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
4.1 Reporting of Discontinued Operations
In April 2006, A2 Corporation Limited created a
subsidiary called A2 Exports Pty Limited (formerly
named A2 Australia Pty Limited). A2 Corporation
Limited is the 100% shareholder of A2 Exports
Pty Limited. The assets and liabilities, income and
expenses of this subsidiary were consolidated within
the Group financial statements for the twelve month
period ended 31 March 2007 and for the two month
period ended 31 May 2007.
On 1 June, 2007 A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty
Limited, a 50% owned associate took over the
a2 Milk™ supply activities of A2 Exports Pty
Limited. The share of associate losses for the
10 months ended 31 March 2008, relating to
this business, are incorporated in the financial
statements using the equity method. Refer Note 26
‘Investment in Associate’.
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sales operations of A2 Exports Pty Limited (formerly
A2 Australia Pty Limited). After the offset of the
Company’s assets and liabilities there was no effect
on net assets, apart from the value of goodwill
held by A2 Exports Pty Limited, which was fully
impaired during the current year. The sale of the
trading activities of A2 Exports Pty Limited to A2
Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited, a 50:50
joint venture between A2 Corporation and Freedom

Nutritional Products Ltd, is consistent with the
Group’s long-term policy to establish partnerships
and licences with entities that can add significant
value in the fresh milk retail supply chain. The
disposal was completed on 1 June 2007, on which
date control of the operations passed to the acquirer.
Details of the book value of assets and liabilities
disposed of are detailed as follows:

2008

Property, plant & equipment
Loss on disposal

7,093
(7,092)
1

Consideration
Consideration paid in cash & cash equivalents

1
1

As the accounting treatment to recognise the results,
assets and liabilities of A2 Exports Pty Limited
and A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited are
materially different, the results for A2 Exports Pty
Limited for the current and prior periods have been
shown as ‘discontinued operations’.
4.2 Disposal of Assets of A2 Exports Pty Limited
On 9 May 2007, the Board of Directors entered
into a sale agreement to dispose of the a2 Milk™
32
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4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONT.)
4.3 Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year from the Discontinued Operations

Notes

Revenue
Expenses
Gross Surplus/(deficit)
Finance costs
Impairment of goodwill
Gain on disposal of milk operation
Surplus/(deficit) for the year

3.4
12

2008

2007

$

$

2 Months

12 Months

1,012,171
(1,518,521)

7,516,217
(9,476,436)

(506,350)
(33,056)
(407,039)
-

(1,960,219)
(88,513)
-

$(946,445) $(2,048,732)

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the period in respect of discontinued operations was $799,753 (2007: $5,113,713). The cost of inventories
recognised as an expense includes $27,319 (2007: $26,837) in respect of write downs of inventory to net realisable value.
4.4 Cashflows From Discontinued Operations
Net cashflows from operating activities
Net cashflows from investing activities
Net cashflows from financing activities

191,067
18,865
752,608

(2,752,801)
(425,572)
2,802,599
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5. INCOME TAXES
5.1 Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss

Current tax expense/(income)
Deferred tax expense/(income) relating to the origination
and reversal of timing differences
Tax losses utilised
Effect on deferred tax balances due to the change in income
tax rate from 33% to 30% (effective 1 April, 2008)
Effect on tax losses due to the change in income
tax rate from 33% to 30% (effective 1 April, 2008)
Tax losses not recognised
Deferred tax asset not recognised
Total tax expense/(income)
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Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

(1,085,824)

(1,505,098)

(842,234)

(793,016)

182,880
21,291

98,744
651

147,462
21,291

154,965
651

181,805

-

181,805

-

218,857
845,676
(364,685)

1,504,447
(98,744)

218,857
602,086
(329,267)

792,366
(154,966)

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil
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5. INCOME TAXES (CONT.)
5.1 Income Tax Recognised in Profit or Loss cont.
Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

Profit/(Loss) from operations

(6,298,221)

(5,124,929)

(2,642,666)

(2,231,791)

Income tax expense/(income) calculated at 33%
(Australian operations calculated at 30%)

(2,041,832)

(1,613,401)

(872,080)

(736,491)

1,138,888
21,291

207,047
651

177,308
21,291

98,440
651

181,805

-

181,805

-

218,857
845,676
(364,685)

1,504,447
(98,744)

218,857
602,086
(329,267)

792,366
(154,966)

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

The prima facie income tax on pre-tax accounting profit from operations reconciles to:

Non-deductible expenses
Tax losses utilised
Effect on deferred tax balances due to the change in income
tax rate from 33% to 30% (effective 1 April, 2008)
Effect on tax losses due to the change in income
tax rate from 33% to 30% (effective 1 April, 2008)
Tax losses not recognised
Deferred tax asset not recognised
Total tax expense/(income)

5.2 Income Tax Recognised Directly in Equity
There was no current or deferred tax charged/(credited) directly to equity during the period.
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5. INCOME TAXES (CONT.)
5.3 Current Tax Assets & Liabilities

Current tax assets:
Current tax refundable
Opening balance
Resident withholding tax receivable
Refund received

Current tax payables:
Current tax payable

Net Current tax

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

47,028
2,562
(9,304)

7,703
39,325
-

37,724
263
-

7,703
30,021
-

$40,286

$47,028

$37,987

$37,724

-

-

-

-

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$40,286

$47,028

$37,987

$37,724

5.4 Tax Losses
Company
The Company has estimated tax losses of $7,230,702 at balance date (2007: $4,678,478). These are subject to confirmation by the Inland Revenue Department
and subject to meeting the requirements of the Income Tax Act 2004.
Group
The Group has estimated tax losses of $10,456,387 at balance date (2007: $7,085,264). These are subject to confirmation by the Inland Revenue Department and
subject to meeting the requirements of the Income Tax Act 2004. The Group loss at 31 March 2008 includes a loss from the Australian subsidiary, A2 Exports Pty
Limited of $3,295,020 (2007: $2,406,786) and is subject to Australian tax rules. The tax benefit of the New Zealand losses will be calculated when utilised at the
specified company tax rate at the time and will be available to the Group on the basis the requirements of the tax legislation are met.
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5. INCOME TAXES (CONT.)
5.5 Deferred Tax Balances
i) Summary of unrecognised deferred tax balances:

The following deferred tax assets have not been brought
to account as assets:
Temporary differences

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

1,838,854

2,203,541

1,818,051

2,147,320

$1,838,854

$2,203,541

$1,818,051

$2,147,320

Opening

Charged to

Effect of Tax

Closing

Balance

Income

Rate Change

Balance

-

(3,367)

306

(3,061)

$Nil

$(3,367)

$306

$(3,061)

2,119,658
376
83,507

(130,664)
(225)
(48,625)

(180,818)
(14)
(1,280)

1,808,176
137
33,602

$2,203,541

$(179,514)

$(182,112)

$1,841,915

ii) 2008 Year Group Unrecognised Deferred Tax Balances

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

Gross deferred tax assets:
Intellectual Property
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

Net Deferred Tax Balance

$1,838,854

A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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iii) 2008 Year Company Unrecognised Deferred Tax Balances
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

Gross deferred tax assets:
Intellectual Property
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

Opening

Charged to

Effect of Tax

Closing

Balance

Income

Rate Change

Balance

-

(3,367)

306

(3,061)

$Nil

$(3,367)

$306

$(3,061)

2,107,209
376
39,735

(130,664)
(225)
(13,207)

(180,818)
(14)
(1,280)

1,795,727
137
25,248

$2,147,320

$(144,096)

$(182,112)

$1,821,112

Net Deferred Tax Balance

$1,818,051

iv) 2007 Year Group Unrecognised Deferred Tax Balances
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

Gross deferred tax assets:
Intellectual Property
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

Net Deferred Tax Balance
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-

-

-

-

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

2,278,031
24,253

(158,373)
376
59,254

-

2,119,658
376
83,507

$2,302,284

$(98,743)

$Nil

$2,203,541
$2,203,541
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5. INCOME TAXES (CONT.)
5.5 Deferred Tax Balances cont.
v) 2007 Company Unrecognised Deferred Tax Balances

Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

Gross deferred tax assets:
Intellectual Property
Property, plant and equipment
Provisions

Net Deferred Tax Balance

Opening

Charged to

Effect of Tax

Closing

Balance

Income

Rate Change

Balance

-

-

-

-

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

2,278,031
24,253

(170,822)
376
15,482

-

2,107,209
376
39,735

$2,302,284

$(154,964)

$Nil

$2,147,320
$2,147,320

The deferred tax benefit is not recognised in the accounts as there is no probability of realisation. Currently the tax losses are not recognised as a future income tax
benefit.
Legislation has been enacted which, from 2008/2009, changes the corporate tax rate to 30% from 33%. Accordingly the unrecognised deferred tax asset has been
remeasured at 30% to the extent the underlying temporary differences are expected to reverse in 2008/2009 and beyond.
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5. INCOME TAXES (CONT.)
Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

37,724
829
-

7,786
36,571
(6,633)

37,724
829
-

7,786
36,571
(6,633)

$38,553

$37,724

$38,553

$37,724

52,013
-

41,040
-

52,013
-

26,275
-

$52,013

$41,040

$52,013

$26,275

5.6 Imputation Credit Account Balances
Balance at beginning of the year
RWT attached to interest received
Taxation refund (net)
Balance at end of the year

6. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
Audit of the financial statements
Other assurance services

The auditor of A2 Corporation Limited is Ernst & Young.
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7. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
The compensation of the Chief Executive, Directors and other senior management, being the key management personnel of the entity, is set out below:

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term employee benefits
Termination benefits
Share-based payment

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

754,575
8,730
139,062
154,538

797,282
14,879
65,000

710,641
1,578
139,062
154,538

631,955
65,000

$1,056,905

$877,161

$1,005,819

$696,955

113,613

371,798

100

68,240

$113,613

$371,798

100

$68,240

8. CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash & cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash held by the Group and short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying value of these
assets approximates their fair value.
Cash and short term deposits include AUD$38,618 (2007: AUD$72,307) of short term deposits. All short term deposits earn interest at 5.9% (2007: 5.0%).
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9. TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful debts

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

188,597
-

2,422,058
(188,143)

533,397
-

133,028
(6,965)

$188,597

$2,233,915

$533,397

$126,063

Total trade receivables (net of allowances) held by the Group at 31 March 2008 amounted to $188,597 (2007: $2,233,915), comprising the amount presented
above with no trade receivables classified as held for sale.
The average credit period on sales is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables outstanding. The Group has provided for all of the Australian receivables
relating to the fresh milk business activities of A2 Exports Pty Limited as they are all over 120 days and these business activities were sold to A2 Dairy Products
Australia Pty Limited in June 2007. The Group has not provided for any other receivables as these are all deemed collectable.
The majority of the Group’s customers are joint venture partners or licensees. The credit quality of customers is reviewed periodically however, this is not seen as a
large risk as joint venture partners and licensees are dealt with on a regular basis.
Included in the Group’s accounts receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $20,381 (2007: $1,241,833) which are past due at the reporting date.
The Group has not provided for these debtors as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The
Company does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 84 days (2007: 59 days).
The Group’s exposures to market risk and credit risk are detailed in Notes 36.5 and 36.9.
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9. TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT.)
9.1 Ageing of Past Due But Not Impaired

Ageing analysis:
0 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 - 90 days
90 days +
Total

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

3,315
1,437
15,629

663,084
352,593
226,155
-

3,315
1,437
15,629

1,413
-

$20,381

$1,241,833

$20,381

$1,413

188,143
(181,178)
(6,965)

188,143
-

6,965
(6,965)

6,965
-

$Nil

$188,143

$Nil

$6,965

9.2 Movement in Impairment Losses
Balance at beginning of the year
Impairment losses recognised on receivables
Amounts written off as uncollectible
Amounts recovered during the year
Impairment losses reversed
Balance at end of the year

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in perceived credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was
initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being joint venture partners and licensees. Accordingly,
the Directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.
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9. TRADE & OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT.)
9.3 Ageing of Impaired Trade Receivables
Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

-

188,143

-

6,965

$Nil

$188,143

$Nil

$6,965

Finished Goods

-

63,428

-

-

Carton and label stock

-

75,549

-

-

$Nil

$138,977

$Nil

$Nil

Ageing analysis
0 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 - 90 days
90 + days
Total

10. INVENTORIES

Inventories represent stock held by A2 Exports Pty Limited (refer Note 4 ‘Discontinued Operations’).
The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the period in respect of discontinued operations was $799,753 (2007: $5,113,713). The cost of inventories
recognised as an expense includes $27,318 (2007: $26,837) in respect of write downs of inventory to net realisable value.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Accumulated
Cost

Cost

1 April

Group

Office & computer
Furniture & fittings
Total Property, Plant & Equipment

Accumulated

depreciation

Accumulated

depreciation

and impairment

depreciation

and impairment

31 March

charges

Depreciation

reversed on

charges

Book Value

2007

Additions

Disposals

2008

1 April 2007

expense

disposal

31 March 2008

31 March 2008

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

117,855

7,542

(7,906)

117,491

78,881

14,112

(1,962)

91,031

26,460

44,507

1,488

(28,465)

17,530

13,853

1,532

(6,446)

8,939

8,591

$162,362

$9,030

$(36,371)

$135,021

$92,734

$15,644

$(8,408)

$99,970

$35,051

Accumulated

Cost

Group

Office & computer
Furniture & fittings
Total Property, Plant & Equipment

Accumulated

depreciation

Accumulated

depreciation

and impairment

depreciation

and impairment

Book Value

Cost

charges

Depreciation

reversed on

charges

31 March

1 April 2006

Additions

Disposals

31 March 2007

1 April 2006

expense

disposal

31 March 2007

2007

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

101,200

16,922

(267)

117,855

59,546

19,466

(131)

78,881

38,974

13,263

31,244

-

44,507

5,983

8,018

(148)

13,853

30,654

$114,463

$48,166

$(267)

$162,362

$65,529

$27,484

$(279)

$92,734

$69,628

Loss on disposal expenses are included in the line item “Other Expenses” in the Income Statement.
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT CONT.
Accumulated
Cost

Cost

1 April

Company

Office & computer
Furniture & fittings
Total Property, Plant & Equipment

Accumulated

depreciation

Accumulated

depreciation

and impairment

depreciation

and impairment

31 March

charges

Depreciation

reversed on

charges

Book Value

2007

Additions

Disposals

2008

1 April 2007

expense

disposal

31 March 2008

31 March 2008

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

111,949

7,542

(2,000)

117,491

78,401

14,112

(1,482)

91,031

26,460

17,530

-

-

17,530

7,407

1,532

-

8,939

8,591

$129,479

$7,542

$(2,000)

$135,021

$85,808

$15,644

$(1,482)

$99,970

$35,051

Accumulated

Cost

Company

Accumulated

depreciation

Accumulated

depreciation

and impairment

depreciation

and impairment

reversed on

charges

Book Value

disposal 31 March 2007

31 March 2007

Cost

charges

Depreciation

1 April 2006

Additions

Disposals

31 March 2007

1 April 2006

expense

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

101,200

11,016

(267)

111,949

59,546

18,986

(131)

78,401

33,548

Furniture & fittings

13,263

4,267

-

17,530

5,983

1,424

-

7,407

10,123

Total Property, Plant & Equipment

114,463

$15,283

$ (267)

$ 129,479

$ 65,529

$ 20,410

$ (131)

$ 85,808

$ 43,671

Office & computer

Loss on disposal expenses are included in the line item “Other Expenses” in the Income Statement.
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12. GOODWILL

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

Balance at beginning of year
Exchange differences
Additional amounts recognised from business combinations occurring during the year

392,654
14,385
-

392,654

-

-

Balance at end of year

407,039

$392,654

-

-

Balance at beginning of year
Impairment losses recognised in the year
Effect of foreign currency exchange differences

407,039
-

-

-

-

Balance at end of year

407,039

-

-

-

$392,654

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$392,654

$Nil

$Nil

Notes

Cost

Accumulated Impairment Losses

Carrying Amount
At the beginning of the year
At the end of the year
Total goodwill held by the Group at 2008 amounted to $Nil (2007: $392,654).
Annual Test for Impairment
During the 2007 financial year the Group assessed the carrying value of the goodwill held in its Australian subsidiary A2 Exports Pty Limited, and determined that
based on the future prospects in the Australian dairy market, the goodwill as at 31 March 2007 of $392,654 reflected fair value of the intangible asset.
When the original operating activities of A2 Exports Pty Limited were disposed of during the current financial year, goodwill associated with this entity was accordingly
assessed as fully impaired and was written down to $nil.
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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13. INVESTMENTS
Notes

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

-

-

5,573,306
-

113
-

-

-

5,573,306

113

24,197

12,301

24,197

12,301

24,197

12,301

24,197

12,301

$24,197

$12,301

$5,597,503

$12,414

Investments in Subsidiaries
A2 Exports Pty Limited 4,833,173 shares @ AUD $1.00
(Last year - 100 shares)
A2 Finance Limited 100 uncalled shares
A2 Exports Limited 100 uncalled shares
A2 Australian Investments Pty Ltd 100 uncalled shares

Other Investments
Fair Value
Living Cell Technologies Pty Limited
67,895 @ AUD $0.31
(Last year - 67,895 @ AUD $0.20)

Total Investments

During the year a loan from A2 Finance Limited was repaid by A2 Exports Pty Limited. The issued share capital of A2 Exports Pty Limited increased from 100 shares
to 4,833,173 shares. Funds paid by A2 Corporation Limited for these shares were used by A2 Exports Pty Limited to repay A2 Finance Limited with the balance
advanced to A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited.
The Directors have considered the carrying value of the investment in A2 Exports Pty Limited which is now the Group’s vehicle for milk powder exports out of Australia
as well as a provider of loan capital to A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited.
The Directors are satisfied that, based on the future prospects of A2 Exports Pty Limited, the carrying value of the investment is not impaired.
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14. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Accounts payable
Accruals
Employee entitlements
Directors’ fees
Owing to subsidiaries

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

177,402
104,061
122,060
10,000
-

1,511,799
178,416
230,216
18,750
-

177,410
104,061
52,716
10,000
17,478

124,568
92,934
91,916
18,750
17,478

$413,523

$1,939,181

$361,665

$345,646

The average credit period on purchases is 30 days.
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates their fair value.
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15. BORROWINGS
Interest

Maturity

Rate

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

Secured - At amortised cost
Bank overdrafts
National Australia Bank Limited (i)
ASB Overdraft facility (ii)
Westpac Current account (iii)

11.6%
8.92%
27.05%

Call
6/7/07
Call

25,794

1,081,053
2,000,000
-

25,794

2,000,000
-

Bank Loans
Westpac Credit facility (iva)
Westpac Credit facility (ivb)

10.05%
10.71%

Call
29/5/08

4,575,000
3,323,622

-

4,575,000
3,323,622

-

$7,924,416

$3,081,053

$7,924,416

$2,000,000

(i)

An available credit facility of $AUD1,200,000 (NZ$1,358,850) which was subject to a subordination agreement and was secured by an assignment over debtors.

(ii) An available credit facility from ASB Bank of $2,000,000. This facility was guaranteed by PHC Treasury Limited. Mr C Cook and Mr G Hinton, Directors of A2
Corporation Limited, are also Directors of PHC Treasury Limited.
(iii) A temporary overdraft balance from Westpac, relating to A2 Corporation’s current account. There is no formal overdraft facility in place for this account. The
amount was repaid after balance date by a drawdown from the Westpac wholesale advance facility.
(iv) A total available credit facility from Westpac with a limit of $10,500,000. This facility is guaranteed by PHC Treasury Limited. Mr C Cook and Mr G Hinton,
Directors of A2 Corporation Limited, are also Directors of PHC Treasury Limited.
(iva) From 1 April 2008 this loan is an on call credit facility that will roll over until September 2008.
(ivb) This loan is a credit facility that is on a 90-day rollover.
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16. SHARE CAPITAL

2008

2008

2007

2007

No. of Shares

$

No. of Shares

$

Balance at beginning of the year

151,087,521

21,193,512

151,087,521

21,193,512

Balance at end of the year

151,087,521

$21,193,513

151,087,521

$21,193,512

All shares are fully paid ordinary shares and carry equal voting rights. All shares participate equally in any dividend distribution or any surplus on winding up of the company.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE
17.1 Basic Earnings Per Share
2008

2007

Cents per

Cents per

Share

Share

From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

(3.54)
(0.63)

(2.04)
(1.36)

Total basic earnings per share

(4.17)

(3.40)

2008

2007

(5,351,776)
(946,445)

(3,076,197)
(2,048,732)

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows:
Net surplus/(deficit):
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

$(6,298,221) $(5,124,929)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic earnings per share

No.

No.

151,087,521

151,087,521
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17. EARNINGS PER SHARE CONT.
17.2 Diluted Earnings Per Share

From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

2008

2007

Cents per

Cents per

Share

Share

(3.31)
(0.59)

(1.97)
(1.31)

(3.90)

(3.28)

2008

2007

(5,351,776)
(946,445)

(3,076,197)
(2,048,732)

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share are as follows:

Net surplus/(deficit)
From continuing operations
From discontinued operations

$(6,298,221) $(5,124,929)

No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of diluted earnings per share

161,587,521 156,351,905

Options issued under the ‘Old Scheme’ (refer Note 18.1) have an exercise price of $0.50 per share. As the exercise price is higher than the current market price,
these options do not have a dilutive effect on earnings per share. However this will change in the future if the market price exceeds $0.50.
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Employee Share Option Plan
The Group has an ownership-based compensation
scheme for executives, senior employees and key
contractors of the Group. In accordance with the
provisions of the plan, executives, senior employees
and key contractors with the Group may be granted
options to purchase ordinary shares at an exercise price
determined by the Board at the time of issue.
Each share option converts into one ordinary share of
A2 Corporation Limited on exercise. No amounts are
paid or payable by the recipient on receipt of the option.
The options carry neither rights to dividends nor voting
rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the
date of vesting to the date of their expiry.
Options are granted at the discretion of the board,
subject to the provisions of the NZAX listing rules,
which limit the number of options that can be issued
without shareholder approval.
18.1 Old Scheme
Option Scheme Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, holds an option to subscribe for the
cumulative total of 1,500,000 ordinary shares in the
Company at $0.50 per share at any time up to 30
September 2008, as agent for persons determined by
the directors of A2 Corporation Limited as having made
or making a significant contribution to the development
and commercialisation of the Company’s business

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

including but not limited to, Directors and employees
of the Company. Option Scheme Limited then has the
power to decide which of the persons so determined
by the Directors of the Company are to be entitled
to subscribe for shares and the maximum number of
shares that Option Scheme Limited may subscribe for
on behalf of each such person.
At balance date a total of 145,000 shares from those
allocated had been subscribed for and had been paid
for in full. In terms of employees still in the employ
of the Company, the Board elected to re-negotiate
the surrender of their options under this scheme for
replacement options under the new Employee Share
Ownership Plan. After such negotiation, the amount
of options remaining allocated under the old scheme
is 990,000 pursuant to the exercise of the option
and those options remaining unallocated amounted to
510,000 - Refer Note 18.3.
18.2 New Employee Share Ownership Plan
In terms of the New Employee Share Ownership Plan
(“New Plan”), the Company has issued options to
subscribe for shares in the capital of the Company
to certain key employees (and contractors) to create
an incentive for those persons and ensure that their
interests and those of the Company are aligned. The
holder of an option is entitled to subscribe for one fully
paid ordinary share for each option. The exercise price
for the options is determined by the Board at the time
of issue but will generally be set by reference to the
weighted average market price of ordinary shares in the

Company for the period of five business days before
either (a) the date on which allocations are decided
by the Board; or (b) the date on which allocations are
issued.
The first issue of 6,000,000 options under the New
Plan was made on 17 February 2006 and was effective
from 1 April 2006. No options are exercisable within
the period of 36 months from 1 April 2005. If options
are not exercised by the fourth anniversary of that
date they will lapse (although the date is capable of
extension by the Board). Options will lapse on expiry
of the period of six months from the date on which an
option holder ceases to be engaged on a full time basis
in the business of the Company except in cases of death
or permanent disability. In circumstances of death or
permanent disability, the options may be transferred as
contemplated by clause 4 of the New Plan. During the
year to 31 March 2008, 750,000 options lapsed due to
an option holder ceasing to be engaged in the business
of the company.
As at 31 March 2007 the Board had approved a second
allocation of a further 6,000,000 options exercisable
between 1 April 2009 and 1 April 2010 at the exercise
price of NZ$0.10. During the year to 31 March 2008,
750,000 options lapsed due to an option holder ceasing
to be engaged in the business of the company.
No advances have been made to Option Scheme Ltd or
the Company by any party, for the purposes of exercising
any options on issue at balance date.
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONT.)
18.3 Options Series
As at 31 March 2008, A2 Corporation had two separate option schemes in operation, and old and new scheme. Under the Old Scheme (OS), option holders are able
to subscribe for shares at $0.50 per share at any time up to 30 September 2008. Under the new employee share option plan (NESOP), two tranches of options have
been issued, with option holders able to subscribe for shares within a one year period, beginning two years after grant date.
The following share-based payment arrangements were in existence during the current and comparative reporting periods:
Option Series

(1) Old Scheme
(2) New Scheme – Tranche I
(3) New Scheme – Tranche II
*

Number

Grant Date

Vesting Date

Expiry Date

Exercise Price

Fair Value at Grant Date

990,000
5,250,000
5,250,000

30 Sept 2003
1 April 2006
31 March 2007

30 Sept 2003
1 April 2008
1 April 2009

30 Sept 2008
1 April 2009
1 April 2010

$0.50
$0.09
$0.10

$Nil*
$113,750
$211,576

Valuation at transition date to IFRS on 31 March 2006.

Options Exercised During Period
No options were exercised during the year ended 31 March 2008 (2007: Nil).
Options Expired During Period
No options expired during the period (2007: Nil).
Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life
The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options as at 31 March 2008 is 1.42 years (2007: 1.93 years).
Weighted Average Exercise Price
The weighted average exercise price of the options outstanding as at 31 March 2008 is $0.13 (2007: $0.16). The weighted average exercise price of the options
exercisable as at 31 March 2008 is $0.50 (2007: $0.50).
Options Forfeited During Period
A total of 1,500,00 options lapsed in the year ended 31 March 2008, due to an option holder ceasing to be engaged in the business of the Company. These
comprised 750,000 options under each of Tranche I and II of the New Scheme, with a weighted average exercise price of $0.095.

54

A2 CORPORATION LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONT.)
18.4 Estimation of Fair Value of Options at Measurement Date
Valuation Methodology
The fair values summarised in the table above were derived using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model, for valuing European call options. Adoption of this
method is considered reasonable as the Company’s warrants are relatively simple in form and A2 Corporation is not expected to pay a dividend over the life of the
options. In addition, any decrease in the number of options as a result of forfeiture can be accounted for over the vesting (and amortisation) period.
Input Assumptions
The fair values above have been derived using the following input assumptions:
Valuation Date

(1) Old Scheme
(2) New Scheme -Tranche I
(3) New Scheme - Tranche II

31 Mar 06
31 Mar 06
1 Apr 07

Share Price

$0.07
$0.07
$0.10

Exercise Price

$0.50
$0.09
$0.10

Volatility

50%
50%
50%

Time to Expiry

Expected

(years)

Dividends

2.5
3.0
3.0

$0.00
$0.00
$0.00

Risk- Free Rate

5.81%
5.81%
6.71%

Early Exercise
No allowance has been made for the possibility of early exercise. The New Scheme options are held by a small number of executives and the Company has no reason
to believe that the options will be exercised early, particularly as the Company is not expected to pay a dividend over the option life.
Volatility
Volatility has been assessed by considering the historical volatility of the Company’s shares, as well as other factors that influence expected future volatility. The
Company’s historical stock price movements have been characterised by infrequent share trading and wide trading spreads giving rise to volatile price movements.
Such share price returns can be as much (if not more) reflective of trading conditions as much as of underlying value. As a result, A2 Corporation’s annualised
historical volatility is considered to be too high to be predictive of future volatility. However, the Company is still considered to have high volatility relative to the
market in general. Highly volatile stocks typically have annualised volatilities of between 40% and 60%. A volatility of 50% has been adopted for each of the
Company’s share option valuations.
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18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONT.)
Other Factors
No other factors have been incorporated into the option valuations.
Amounts Recognised in Financial Statements
The impact of the share based payments on the financial statements of the Company are summarised as flows:
Year ended

31 March 2008

31 March 2007

Amount recognised as an
employee expense in Income

Amount recognised as an
Amount recognised in Equity

Statement

(1) Old Scheme
(2) New Scheme - Tranche I
(3) New Scheme - Tranche II

$Nil
$48,750
$105,788

employee expense in Income

Amount recognised in Equity

Statement

$Nil
$48,750
$105,788

$Nil
$65,000
$Nil

$Nil
$65,000
$Nil

On 6 December 2005, the Board adopted a new Employee Share Option Plan. Prior to doing so, the Board effectively halted the operation and activity of the old
scheme. Obligations to recipients of options under the old scheme will be honoured until the expiry of those options on 30 September 2008.
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19. RETAINED EARNINGS (DEFICIT)

Balance at beginning of the year
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year excluding
associate losses
Share of associate losses
Balance at end of year

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

(22,603,940)

(17,479,011)

(19,535,251)

(17,303,460)

(3,801,997)
(2,496,224)

(4,795,814)
(329,115)

(2,642,666)
-

(2,231,791)
-

$(28,902,161) $(22,603,940)

$(22,177,917) $(19,535,251)

20. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
Balance at the beginning of the year
Arising on translation of foreign operations
Balance at end of the year

(9,526)
(124,509)

(9,526)

-

-

$(134,035)

$(9,526)

-

-

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.
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21. EMPLOYEE EQUITY SETTLED PAYMENTS RESERVE

Balance at beginning of the year
Movements during the year
Balance at end of the year

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

65,000
154,538

65,000

65,000
154,538

65,000

$219,538

$65,000

$219,538

$65,000

The employee equity reserve is used to record the value of share based payments provided to employees, including key management personnel, as part of their
remuneration. (Refer to Note 7).
22. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
Operating leases relate to A2 Corporation Limited. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the Company exercises its option to
renew. The Company does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.
22.1 Non-cancellable operating lease payments

Not longer than 1 year
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 2 years
Longer than 2 years and not longer than 5 years
Longer than 5 years
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Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

61,026
27,436
23,582
-

79,110
31,072
3,589
-

61,026
27,436
23,582
-

58,801
31,072
3,589
-

$112,044

$113,771

$112,044

$93,462
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23. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
Name of Subsidiary

Place of Incorporation & Operation

Proportion of Ownership Interest

Principal Activity

A2 Exports Pty Limited (formerly known as A2 Australia Pty
Limited and Barley Grange Pty Limited, formed April 2006)

Australia

100%

Export of a2 Milk™ powder

A2 Exports Limited (incorporated 29 June 2006)

New Zealand

100%

Non-active

A2 Finance Limited (incorporated 19 April 2006)

New Zealand

100%

Group financing

A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited (incorporated 8 May 2007)

Australia

100%

Investment in A2 Dairy
Products Australia Pty
Limited

All subsidiaries have a balance date of 31 March.
24. FORMATION OF SUBSIDIARY
24.1 A2 Exports Pty Limited
a) Formation of Subsidiary
In April 2006, A2 Corporation Limited created a new subsidiary called Barley Grange Pty Limited. A2 Corporation Limited was the 100% shareholder of this newly
created entity. Barley Grange Pty Limited then acquired the assets and liabilities of A2 Australia Pty Limited with settlement occurring on 24 April 2006. The
acquisition was effected by the payment of AUD$469,618 advanced from A2 Corporation Limited to Barley Grange Pty Limited. Subsequent to the acquisition of
these assets and liabilities, Barley Grange Pty Limited changed its name to A2 Australia Pty Limited. A2 Australia Pty Limited has now changed its name to A2
Exports Pty Limited.
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b) Business Assets Purchased

2007

Property, plant & equipment
Inventories

26,583
112,542
139,125

Purchase Price

531,779

Goodwill

$392,654

The acquisition of the stock, plant and equipment of A2 Australia Pty Limited by Barley Grange Pty Limited in April 2006 was initially funded by way of an
intercompany loan from A2 Corporation Limited, but was subsequently refinanced through A2 Finance Limited.
24.2 A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited
A2 Corporation Limited formed A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited during the year. This entity is 100% owned by A2 Corporation Limited and was established to
carry out the investing arrangements for Group activities.

25. ADVANCES TO SUBSIDIARIES

A2 Finance Limited

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

-

-

-

2,836,892

$Nil

$Nil

$Nil

$2,836,892

The terms of advances to subsidiaries are: repayable upon demand with interest payable at 9.55% (2007: 7%). Refer Note 27.
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26. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES
26.1. A2 Milk Company LLC
The Group has a 50% participating interest in A2
Milk Company LLC, an associate set up on 30 June
2005 to commercialise the sales and licensing
rights for the supply, distribution and marketing of
a2 Milk™ in the USA. The Company contributed an
amount of US$400,000 for its initial equity share,
and IdeaSphere Inc assigned their licence to sell a2
Milk™ in the USA (acquired from A2 Corporation
Limited initially). As at 31 March 2008, further capital
of NZ$505,533 had been advanced to the associate
by the Company during the 2008 income year. Under
the arrangement revenue and costs are shared equally.
The balance date for A2 Milk Company LLC is 31
December. Trading results for the 12 months to 31
March 2008 for the associate are unaudited and a 50%
participating interest has been equity accounted by A2
Corporation Limited.
26.2 A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited
i) Advance to Associate
In June 2007 A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited
(“A2AIPL”) entered into an investment agreement with
Nutrition Ventures Pty Limited, an Australian based
entity, and formed a new Australian based company A2
Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited (A2DP).
A2AIPL Limited has a 50% participating interest in
A2DP, a company set up on 1 June 2007 to take over
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the trading activities of a 100% owned subsidiary A2
Exports Pty Limited (formerly A2 Australia Pty Limited),
relating to the supply of a2 Milk™ in Australia.
The arrangement required each party to introduce
capital of AUD$1,250,000. A2 Corporation Limited
(“A2C”) granted A2DP an exclusive and perpetual
licence to use the A2 intellectual property in Australia
and Japan. A2DP paid AUD$1,250,000 for the licence
agreement which was funded by the issue of convertible
notes and shares to A2AIPL.
A2 Corporation Limited advanced initial funds of
AUD$1,250,000 to its fully owned subsidiary A2AIPL,
in order for the subsidiary to fund its investment in
A2DP. A2C advanced a further AUD$500,000 to
A2AIPL in order for A2AIPL to fund a second issue of
convertible notes from A2DP.
ii) Details of Associate Investment Agreement
A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited (A2AIPL) has
a 50% participating interest in A2 Dairy Products
Australia Pty Limited (A2DP), an associate set up on
1 June 2007 to distribute and market a2 Milk™ in
Australia, after acquiring the relevant business assets of
A2 Exports Pty Limited.
Under the investment agreement between A2 Dairy
Products Australia Pty Limited and the other partners,
A2 Australian Investment Pty Limited and Freedom
Nutritional Products Limited, shared control of the
associate is specified.

Neither partner has a controlling interest in A2
Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited - A2 Australian
Investment Pty Limited does not have full control of
the Board of Directors; the company has equal voting
entitlements with Freedom Nutritional Products
Limited; there is an equal sharing of reserve and
expenditure from 1 November 2007; both parties
have contributed equal funding and both have equal
entitlements for conversion and redemption of
convertible notes.
While the investment agreement clearly indicates
the 50:50 relationship of both parties, A2 Australian
Investments Pty Limited (A2DP) holds 99 of a total
shareholding of 100 shares in A2 Dairy Products
Australia Limited (A2DP). This represents a 99% legal
interest, however A2AIPL does not treat A2DP as a
subsidiary as it is not considered to have a controlling
interest in the associate for the reasons indicated above.
Under the arrangement, A2AIPL agreed to underwrite
any losses in excess of AUD$50,000 (excluding certain
items) for the five months ended 31 October 2007,
while A2DP became established. At 31 March 2008,
A2AIPL had paid underwriting expenses to A2DP of
$910,218. After 31 October 2007, all revenue and
costs were shared equally. The balance date for A2
Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited is 30 June.
Trading results for the ten months to 31 March 2008
for the jointly controlled operation are unaudited and a
50% participating interest has been equity accounted
by A2AIPL.
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26.3 Interest in Associates
Ownership & Voting Interest
Name of Company

A2 Milk Corporation LLC
A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited

Principal Activities

Licensing rights for the supply, distribution &
marketing of a2 Milk™ in USA.
Distribution & marketing of a2 Milk™ in Australia

2008

50%
50%

Carrying Amount
2007

50%
N/A

2008

2007

$

$

222,844
178,438
$401,282

344,741
$344,741

26.4 Movements in the Carrying Amount of the Group’s Investment in Associates
Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

i) A2 Milk Company LLC
Carrying value at beginning of year
Funds advanced
Share of net surplus/(deficit)
Foreign exchange translation movement

344,741
505,533
(575,476)
(51,954)

420,378
304,372
(329,115)
(50,894)

Carrying value at end of year

$222,844

$344,741

2,106,360
(1,920,748)
(7,174)

-

$178,438

$Nil

ii) A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited
Carrying value at beginning of year
Funds advanced
Share of net surplus/(deficit)
Foreign exchange translation movement
Carrying value at end of year
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26. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONT.)
26.5 Summarised Financial Information
The following illustrates summarised financial information relating to the Group’s associates:
Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

Extract from the associates’ balance sheets:
Current assets
Non-current assets

3,667,277
1,993,925

294,252
560,146

Total assets

5,661,202

854,398

Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

4,858,638
-

164,916
-

Total liabilities

4,858,638

164,916

802,564

689,482

$401,282

$344,741

Net assets
Share of associates’ net assets
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26. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (CONT.)
Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

8,935,970

-

Net surplus/(deficit)

(4,992,448)

(658,230)

Share of associates deficit

(2,496,224)

(329,115)

Share of Associates’ Net Surplus/(Deficit)
Represented by:
A2 Milk Company LLC
A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited

(575,476)
(1,920,748)

(329,115)
-

$(2,496,224)

$(329,115)

-

-

Extract from the associates’ income statements:
Revenue

Company’s Aggregate Share of Associates
Contingent liabilities
Capital commitments contracted for
Other commitments contracted for, other than for supply of inventories
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
All inter-group balances and transactions have been eliminated in the group financial statements, but are disclosed in the notes below for completeness.
27.1 Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of A2 Corporation Limited and the subsidiaries and associates listed in the following table.
Place of
Incorporation &

Proportion of Ownership Interest

Investments & Loans

Operation

2008

2007

2008
$

2007
$

Australia

100%

100%

5,573,308

113

Subsidiaries
A2 Exports Pty Limited (held through A2 Corporation Limited (2008:$5,573,308,
2007:$113) )
A2 Exports Limited (held through A2 Finance Limited (2008: $Nil, 2007:
$2,802,712) )
A2 Exports Limited

Australia

100%

100%

Nil

2,802,712

New Zealand

100%

100%

Nil

Nil

A2 Finance Limited

New Zealand

100%

100%

Nil

2,836,892

Australia

100%

n/a

2,017,989

Nil

A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited (held through A2 Exports Pty Limited)

The terms of advances to subsidiaries are repayable upon demand with interest payable at 9.55% (2007: 7%)
Associates
A2 Milk Company LLC
A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited (held through A2 Australian Investments
Pty Limited)

USA

50%

50%

222,844

344,741

Australia

50%

n/a

178,438

Nil

27.2 Ultimate parent
A2 Corporation Limited is the parent of the Group. The Group consists of A2 Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries.
27.3 Key management personnel
Details relating to key management personnel, including remuneration paid, are included in Note 7.
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT.)
27.4 Transactions with Related Parties
The following table provides the total amount of transactions that were entered into with related parties for the relevant financial year and any outstanding balances on
related party trade receivables and payables at year-end.
Related Party

Consolidated
Subsidiaries:
A2 Exports Pty Limited – intercompany interest receivable from A2
Australian Investments Limited
A2 Finance Limited – intercompany interest received from A2
Exports Pty Limited
A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited – loss underwriting fees
paid to A2 Dairy Products Pty Limited
A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited – inter entity interest
received from A2 Dairy Products Pty Limited
Parent
Subsidiaries:
A2 Exports Pty Limited – intercompany interest
A2 Exports Pty Limited – management fees received
A2 Exports Pty Limited – general business expenses
A2 Finance Limited – intercompany interest
A2 Finance Limited – Foreign Exchange recharge receivable from
A2 Corporation Limited
A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited – intercompany interest
A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited – general business
expenses
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Sales to Related
Parties
2008
2007
$
$

Purchases from Related
Parties
2008
2007
$
$

31,348
236,930

89,067

67,333

Other Transactions with
Related Parties
2008
2007
$
$

Outstanding Transactions
with Related Parties
2008
2007
$
$
31,348

115,860

236,930
910,218

Nil

Nil

47,430

22,982

Nil

382,166

33,971
164,414

68,058

121,216
164,419
17,478
56,652
2,512

(3,999)
17,478
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT.)
Related Party

Consolidated
Associate:
A2 Milk Company LLC – expenses recharged for overseas travel
and accommodation incurred by A2 Corporation Limited in relation
to the business activities of A2 Milk Company LLC.
A2 Dairy Products Pty Limited
- expenses recharged for overseas business expenses incurred by
A2 Corporation Limited
A2 Dairy Products Pty Limited – management fees received by A2
Corporation Limited.
A2 Australian Investments Pty Limited – loss underwriting fees
paid by A2 Corporation Limited.

Sales to Related
Parties
2008
2007
$
$
113,582

Other:
Golconda Investments Limited – A2 Corporation Limited paid
consultancy fees to in which Mr R Le Grice, a director of A2
Corporation Limited is a shareholder.

Purchases from Related
Parties
2008
2007
$
$

Other Transactions with
Related Parties
2008
2007
$
$

Outstanding transactions
with Related Parties
2008
2007
$
$

118,903

84,650

86,240

Nil
910,217

Nil

100,000

138,108

Sales of goods or services to related parties are at cost.
The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash.
No guarantees have been given.
No expense has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.
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28. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
28.1 Capital Expenditure Commitments
As at 31 March 2008, A2 Corporation has
a commitment to subscribe for a further
AUD$500,000 of convertible notes in A2
Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited. The final
subscription was made on 19 May 2008. There were
no other capital commitments as at 31 March 2008
(2007: $Nil). Note 32 refers to events subsequent
to balance date.
28.2 Lease Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are
disclosed in Note 22.
29. CONTINGENT ASSETS
There were no material contingent assets at 31
March 2008 (2007: $Nil).
30. CONTINGENT LIABILITY
30.1Child Health Research Foundation (CHRF)
On or about 20 April 2004, A2 Corporation Limited
and the Child Health Research Foundation (“CHRF”)
agreed upon an amendment to their October 2000
agreement. That agreement provides that CHRF will
now receive 5% of A2 Corporation’s earnings before
interest, tax and amortisation (“EBITA”) provided
that no royalty shall be payable by A2 Corporation
Limited on any earnings prior to 26 May 2007,
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which date falls three years after the issue of shares
arising from the rights issue of April 2004. A2
Corporation Limited paid CHRF $50,000 in June
2005 and $50,000 upon completion of the 2004
rights issue, and has no further obligations other
than the royalty as described above.
30.2 Guarantees
At balance date a term deposit held by A2 Exports
Australia Pty Limited was subject to a security
deposit guarantee in favour of Capital Finance
Australia Limited. The amount of the guarantee was
AUD$38,619.
31. CAPITAL RAISING
In its 2006 Half Year Report the Company stated
that another capital raising would be likely in the
first half of 2007. The capital raising has been
deliberately postponed as the Directors undertook a
strategic review and continue to develop a number
of major business initiatives. Interim funding has
been provided by the Company’s bankers (Westpac)
supported by the guarantee of interests associated
with Directors Cliff Cook and Gregory Hinton.
The quantum and structure of a capital raising has
now been determined following an assessment of
the capital required to implement the Company’s
new strategic plan. The capital raising will be a nonrenounceable pro rata rights issue to all shareholders
to be completed in August 2008.

The rights issue will raise $11.3 million, and will be
fully underwritten by Mountain Road Investments
Limited, the Company’s largest shareholder, which
is associated with Directors Cliff Cook and Gregory
Hinton.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no events after the balance sheet date
to report apart from the capital raising referred to in
note 31.
33. GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared using
the going concern assumption.
A2 Corporation Limited recorded a net deficit of
$6,298,221 for the year ended 31 March 2008.
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The rights issue and ongoing bank funding for the
Group provided by a Westpac facility, have been
guaranteed by interests associated with Directors
Cliff Cook and Gregory Hinton.
The Directors believe the going concern assumption
is a valid basis on which to prepare the financial
statements. The Directors reached this conclusion
having regard to the circumstances that they
consider likely to affect the Company during the
period of one year from the date these financial
statements are approved, and to circumstances that
they believe will occur after that date which could
affect the validity of the going concern assumption.

The Company has prepared a strategic plan and
budget which indicate that cash generated as a
result of the proposed rights issue, together with an
overdraft facility are sufficient for a period of at least
12 months from the date these financial statements
were approved by the Board of Directors.

A2 CORPORATION LIMITED

69

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

34. SEGMENTAL REPORTING
As at 31 March 2008, the Group operates in one industry; the market for sale and production of beta-casein A2 milk products, and in three geographical areas; New
Zealand, USA and Australia. All inter-segment transactions are conducted on an arms length basis.
The parent operates in only one geographic segment, New Zealand.

Revenue
Continuing operations
New Zealand
Australia
Inter-segment

Discontinued operations
Australia

Profit (loss) before finance costs and tax
Continuing operations
New Zealand
Australia
USA

Discontinued operations
Australia
Impairment of Goodwill

Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

2,221,471
999,283
(1,435,552)

687,741
(613,514)

1,785,202

74,227

1,012,171

7,516,217

2,797,373

7,590,444

(1,447,030)
(2,791,296)
(575,476)

(2,712,364)
(329,115)

(4,813,802)

(3,041,479)

(506,350)
(407,039)

(1,960,165)
-

$(5,727,191) $(5,001,644)
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34. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONT.)

Profit (loss) for the period after finance costs & tax
Continuing operations
New Zealand
Australia
USA

Discontinued operations
Australia
Impairment of Goodwill

Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

(1,985,004)
(2,791,296)
(575,476)

(2,747,082)
(329,115)

(5,351,776)

(3,076,197)

(539,406)
(407,039)

(2,048,732)
-

$(6,298,221) $(5,124,929)
Segment assets
Continuing operations
New Zealand
Australia
USA
Inter-segment

Discontinued operations
Australia

6,465,364
2,341,668
222,842
(8,221,852)

6,039,762
2,972,853
344,741
(5,718,033)

808,022

(3,639,323)

-

25,957

$808,022

$3,665,280
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34. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONT.)

Segment liabilities
Continuing operations
New Zealand
Australia
Inter-segment

Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

8,543,723
2,535,991
(2,648,546)

5,186,637
5,551,630
(5,718,033)

$8,431,168

$5,020,234

7,542
1,488

15,283
32,883

9,030

48,166

15,644
-

20,409
7,075

15,644

27,484

Segment property, plant & equipment
Purchases
New Zealand
Australia

Depreciation
New Zealand
Australia
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34. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONT.)
Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

575,476
1,920,748

329,115
-

$2,496,224

$329,115

$407,039

$Nil

Other Segment Information
i) Loss from Associates
New Zealand
Australia

ii) Impairment of Goodwill
Australia

iii) Shares Held in A2 Exports Pty Limited
The shares held by A2 Corporation Limited in A2 Exports Pty Limited are a segment asset held by A2 Corporation Limited but represent equity in the Balance Sheet
of A2 Exports Pty Limited. The value of these shares is $5,573,306 and is the net difference shown above between segment assets ($8,221,852) and segment
liabilities ($2,648,546).
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35. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

Net Surplus /(Deficit) for the year

(6,298,221)

(5,124,929)

(2,642,666)

(2,231,791)

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Capitalised interest income
Changes in fair value of financial asset designated as at FVTPL
Depreciation
Expense recognised in profit & loss in respect of equity-settled share-based payments
Expense recoveries offset against investment
Impairment of intangible assets
Licence fee
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss)
Share of associates retained deficit for the year
Write (up)/down of investments to market value of non-current assets

(89,067)
(11,896)
15,644
154,538
(153,980)
392,654
(1,408,138)
7,510
(114,908)
2,496,224
-

27,484
65,000
85
329,115
3,589

(11,896)
15,644
154,538
(153,980)
(1,408,138)
418
(18,984)
-

20,410
65,000
85
3,589

1,288,581

425,273

(1,422,398)

89,084

1,598,503
138,977
(47,514)
(882,116)

(2,027,753)
(138,977)
(39,325)
1,703,902

(312,228)
(54,519)
107,430

90,737
(30,022)
110,366

807,850

(502,153)

(259,317)

171,081

Reconciliation of Net Surplus after Taxation with net
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Movements in working capital
Accounts receivable & prepayments
Inventories
Current tax refundable
Accounts payable

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
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$(4,201,790) $(5,201,809)

$(4,324,381) $(1,971,626)
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
36.1 Financial Risk Management Objectives
Exposure to credit, interest rate, foreign currency,
equity price and liquidity risks arises in the normal
course of the Company’s business.
The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides
services to the business, co-ordinates access to
domestic and international financial marks, monitors
and manages the financial risks relating to the
operations of the Group through internal risk reports
which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude
of risks. These risks include market risk (including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price
risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cashflow interest
rate risk.
The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these
risks by reviewing compliance with policies and
exposure limits on a continuous basis.
The Company does not enter into or trade financial
instruments, including derivative financial
instruments, for speculative purposes. Specific risk
management objectives and policies are set out
below:
36.2 Capital Risk Management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
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through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance.

respect of each class of financial asset, financial
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in
Note 2 of the financial statements.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt,
which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 15,
cash and short term deposits, and equity, comprising
issued capital and retained earnings as disclosed in
Notes 8, 16 and 19 respectively.
The capital structure will change as a result of
the rights issue described in Note 31. The equity
capital raised from this issue will be used to repay
the existing bank debt. An overdraft facility, also
guaranteed by PHC Treasury Limited will remain in
place to provide working capital to the business in
excess of the residual amount raised in the rights
issue.
The Group’s Board of Directors reviews the capital
structure on a regular basis.
The Group is not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from
2007.
36.3 Significant Accounting Policies
Details of the significant accounting policies
and methods adopted, including the criteria for
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis
on which income and expenses are recognised, in
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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36.4 Categories of Financial Instruments

Financial Assets
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Held for trading
Designated as at FVTPL (see below)
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships
Held-to-maturity investments
Loans and receivables
Available-for-sale financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
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Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

24,197
188,597
113,613

12,301
2,233,915
371,798
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)
36.4 Categories of Financial Instruments cont.

Financial Liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Held for trading
Designated as at FVTPL (see below)
Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships
Amortised cost
Financial guarantee contracts
Loans & Receivables Designated as at FVTPL
Carrying amount of loans and receivables designated as at FVTPL
Cumulative changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk
Changes in fair value attributable to changes in credit risk recognised during the period

Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

8,337,939
-

5,020,234
-

-

-

At the reporting date there are no significant concentrations of credit risk for loans and receivables designated at FVTPL. The carrying amount reflected above
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for such loans and receivables.
Credit Derivatives Over Loans & Receivables at Fair Value

Opening fair value
Realised during the period
Change in fair value
Closing fair value

Group

Group

2008

2007

$

$

-

-

$Nil

$Nil
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36.5 Market Risk
Market risk is the potential for change in the value
of on and off balance sheet positions caused by
a change in the value, volatility or relationship
between market risks and prices. Market risk arises
from the mismatch between assets and liabilities,
both on and off balance sheet, and from controlled
funding undertaken in pursuit of profit. The Group’s
activities expose it to the financial risks of change
in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates
(see 36.6 and 36.7 below).

financial liabilities is detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note.

fluctuations arise. The Company does not hedge this
risk.

36.7 Foreign Exchange Risk
In the course of normal trading activities, the
Company undertakes transactions denominated in
foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate

The carrying amount of the Company’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and monetary
liabilities at the balance date are as follows:

36.6 Interest Rate Risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk as it
borrows funds at floating interest rates and also
invests cash in short term deposits at fixed interest
rates.

Australian Dollars
a) Assets
Bank
Accounts Receivable

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due
to changes in market interest rates. Investments at
fixed interest rates expose the company to fair value
interest rate risk.
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash
flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.
Borrowings issued at variable interest rates expose
the Company to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Company does not hedge this risk.
The Company’s exposure to interest rates on
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b) Liabilities
Bank
Accounts Payable

United States Dollars
a) Assets
Bank

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

113,460
-

2,222,487

-

-

69,343

797,993
927,300

-

-

-

232

-

232

The table expresses the foreign currency amounts in New Zealand dollar equivalents using the exchange rates
at 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007.
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36.8 Other Price Risk
The Company is exposed to equity price risks arising
from equity investments. Equity investments are
held for strategic rather than trading purposes. The
Group does not actively trade these investments.
36.9 Credit Risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to the Group. The Group has
adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral,
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the
risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group only
transacts with entities that are rated the equivalent
of investment grade and above. This information
is supplied by independent rating agencies where
available and, if not available, the Group uses
other publicly available financial information and
its own trading records to rate its major customers.
The Group’s exposure and the credit rating of the
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is
controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed
and approved by the risk management committee
annually.
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characteristics if they are related entities. There are
no concentrations of credit risk.

financial instruments, which is net of impairment
losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk without taking account of the value of any
collateral obtained:

Except as detailed in the following table, the
carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the

The maximum exposures to credit risk
at balance date are:
Cash and short term deposits
Accounts receivable
Intercompany loans

Group

Group

Company

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

$

$

$

$

113,513
188,597
-

371,798
2,233,915
-

100
533,397
-

68,240
126,063
2,836,892

$302,110

$2,605,713

$533,497

$3,031,195

At balance date, the majority of the Company’s bank accounts are held with Westpac Banking Corporation
Limited. The Company does not have any other concentrations of credit risk. The Company does not require
any collateral or security to support financial instruments.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk
exposure to any single counterparty or any group
of counterparties having similar characteristics.
The Group defines counterparties as having similar
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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36.10 Liquidity Risk Management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the board of directors, who have built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
the management of the Company’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Company manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities
and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and
matching the maturity profiles of financial assets
and liabilities. Included in note 15 is a listing of
additional undrawn facilities that the Company has
at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.
The maturity profiles of the Company’s interest
bearing investments and borrowings are disclosed
later in this note.
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36.11 Liquidity & Interest Risk Tables
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial assets and financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets and financial liabilities including interest that will accrue to those assets or liabilities except
where the Group is entitled and intends to repay a liability before its maturity.

2008

Financial assets:
Cash and short term deposits
Accounts receivable
Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable
Borrowings

2007

Financial assets:
Cash and short term deposits
Accounts receivable
Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable
Borrowings

Fixed Maturity Dates
3-4
2-3
Years
Years

4-5
Years

5+
Years

Non
Interest
Bearing

Total

$

$

$

$

$

-

-

-

-

188,597
188,597

113,513
188,597
302,110

-

-

-

-

413,523
413,523

413,523
7,924,416
8,337,939

Fixed Maturity Dates
2-3
3-4
Years
Years

4-5
Years

5+
Years

Non
Interest
Bearing

Total

$

$

$

$

$

-

-

-

-

2,233,915
2,233,915

371,798
2,233,915
2,605,713

-

-

-

-

1,939,181
1,939,181

1,939,181
3,081,053
5,020,234

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest Rate
%

Variable
Interest
Rate

Less than
1 year

1-2
Years

$

$

$

$

5.9%
0.0%

68,981
68,981

44,532
44,532

-

0.0%
10.38%

-

7,924,416
7,924,416

-

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest Rate
%

Variable
Interest
Rate

Less than 1
year

1-2
Years

$

$

$

$

5.0%
0.0%

289,919
289,919

81,879
81,879

-

0.0%
9.86%

-

3,081,053
3,081,053

-
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT.)
36.12 Sensitivity Analysis
(a) Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities
in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating
interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group by
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and
floating rate borrowings.
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates on
borrowings and term deposits at balance date. For
floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of the liability outstanding
at the balance sheet date was outstanding for the
whole year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease
is used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represent
managements assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has
increased during the current period mainly due to
the increase in borrowings.
The Directors believe the Company is not exposed to
any other material fluctuations of reported earnings
as a result of risks to financial instruments.
(b) Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising
from license revenue denominated in currencies
other than the Group’s functional currency. The
majority of foreign currency related exposures relate
to balances of inter-entity advances. The Company is
mainly exposed to Australian Dollars and American
Dollars.
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
a 10% increase and decrease in the New Zealand

Australian Dollars

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s:

10% Increase in the NZ Dollar

– Deficit for the year ended 31 March, 2008 would
decrease/increase by $78,109 (2007: $27,093).
This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure
to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

10% Decrease in the NZ Dollar
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Dollar against the relevant foreign currencies.
10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the period end
for a 10% changed in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as
loans to foreign operations within the group where
the denomination of the loan is in currency other
than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A
positive number below indicates an increase in profit
where the New Zealand Dollar strengthens 10%
against the relevant currency. For a 10% weakening
of the New Zealand Dollar against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit and the balances below would
be negative.

Profit

Loss

2008

2007

339,121

237,856

(416,127)

(290,713)

American Dollars
2008

2007

(i)

52,316

29,920

(i)

(63,942)

(36,568)

(i) This is mainly due to the exposure outstanding on the Australian trading subsidiaries and associates.
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The Group’s sensitivity to Australian currency has
decreased during the current period mainly due to
the sale of the A2 Exports Pty Limited subsidiaries
business out of the Group. The Group’s sensitivity to
American currency has increased during the current
period mainly due to an increase in American
investments.
In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange
risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the
exposure during the year. Australian denominated
expenses and sales are now significantly less as a
result of the sale of the A2 Exports Pty Limited milk
supply business. However, the exposure is likely
to increase as the business begins new operations
relating to the supply of a2 Milk™ powder.
36.13 Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined as follows:
– The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market prices; and
– The fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding derivative
instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis using prices

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

from observable current market transactions and
dealer quotes for similar instruments.
The financial statements include holdings in listed
shares which are measured at fair value (Note 13).
Fair value is estimated using observable market
prices or rates.
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the financial statements
approximates their fair values.
37. IMPACTS OF THE ADOPTION OF NEW ZEALAND
EQUIVALENTS TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
The Company changed its accounting policies on 1
April 2007 to comply with NZ IFRS. The transition
to NZ IFRS is accounted for in accordance with
NZ IFRS-1 ‘First-Time Adoption of New Zealand
Equivalents to International Reporting Standards’,
with 1 April 2006 as the date of transition.
There were no material differences between the
Company’s Balance Sheet, Income Statement and
cash flows under NZ IFRS and the Balance Sheet,
Income Statement and Cash Flow Statement
presented under superseded policies.
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38. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO NEW ZEALAND EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS
1) Reconciliation of equity reported under previous New Zealand Financial
Reporting Standards (NZ FRS) to equity under New Zealand Equivalents to
IFRS (NZ IFRS).
(a) At the date of transition to NZ IFRS: 1 April 2006 (Company)

* Reported balance sheet for the financial year ended 31 March 2006.

Notes

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and short term deposits
Accounts receivable & accruals
Taxation receivable
Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments

(i)

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES & OWNERS EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Bank overdraft
Accounts payable & accruals
Employee entitlements

Owners Equity
Share capital
Retained earnings
(i) & (ii)
Foreign exchange translation reserve
(i)
TOTAL LIABILITIES & OWNERS EQUITY
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Previous NZ
GAAP*

NZ IFRS

$

Effect of
Transition to
NZ IFRS
$

3,196,475
255,149
7,703
3,459,327

-

3,196,475
255,149
7,703
3,459,327

48,934
436,266
485,200
$3,944,527

175,551
175,551
$175,551

48,934
611,817
660,751
$4,120,078

198,933
31,093
230,026

-

198,933
31,093
230,026

21,193,512
(17,506,016)
27,005
3,714,501
$3,944,527

$

- 21,193,512
202,556 (17,303,460)
(27,005)
$175,551
3,890,052
$175,551 $4,120,078
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38. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO NEW ZEALAND EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS
(CONT.)
(b) At the end of the last reporting period under previous NZ FRS:
31 March 2007 (Group)

* Reported balance sheet for the financial year ended 31 March 2007.

Notes

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and short term deposits
Accounts receivable & accruals
Inventory
Taxation receivable
Non Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Intangible assets

(iii)

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES & OWNERS EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Bank overdraft
Accounts payable & accruals
Employee entitlements

Owners Equity
Share capital
Other reserves
Foreign exchange translation
reserve
Employee equity settled payments
TOTAL LIABILITIES & OWNERS EQUITY

Previous NZ
GAAP*
$

$

371,798
2,288,153
138,977
47,028
2,845,956

-

371,798
2,288,153
138,977
47,028
2,845,956

69,628
357,042
370,422
797,092
$3,643,048

22,232
22,232
$22,232

69,628
357,042
392,654
819,324
$3,665,280

3,081,053
1,708,965
230,216
5,020,234

-

3,081,053
1,708,965
230,216
5,020,234

21,193,512
(i), (ii) & (iii) (22,588,177)
(i)
17,479
(ii)

NZ IFRS

Effect of
Transition to
NZ IFRS

(1,377,186)
$3,643,048

$

- 21,193,512
(15,763) (22,603,940)
(27,005)
(9,526)
65,000
22,232
$22,232

65,000
(1,354,954)
$3,665,280
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38. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO NEW ZEALAND EQUIVALENTS TO IFRS
(CONT.)

Notes

Previous
NZ GAAP*

NZ IFRS

Effect of
Transition to
NZ IFRS

(2) Reconciliation of Profit for the year ended 31 March 2007 (Group)
Continuing & Discontinued Operations

* Reported financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2007.

i) Investments in Associates
The Company has applied NZ IAS-28 which does not permit equity
accounting of the investment in A2 Milk Company LLC in the separate
parent company financial statements.
ii) Employee Equity Settled Payments
The Company has applied NZ IFRS-2. This requires all share based
payments to be valued to determine the fair value of existing share
options issued. A valuation has been completed by an independent
valuer. The effect of this adjustment was to spread the fair value of
the share options over the two years prior to the vesting date. This
adjustment increased costs and increased the balance of the “Employee
Equity Settled Payments Reserve” by $65,000 at 31 March 2007.
iii) Intangible Assets
The Company has applied NZ IAS-38. Goodwill previously amortised at
31 March 2007 has been reversed. This adjustment decreased costs and
increased equity.
Effect of NZ IFRS on the Cash Flow Statement
There are no material differences between the cash flow statements
presented under NZ IFRS and the cash flow statements presented under
the superseded policies.
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Revenue
LESS Expenses
Cost of goods sold
Depreciation expense
Employee benefits expense
Finance costs
Goodwill amortised
Legal expenses
Marketing costs
Patents & trademarks
Research & development
Travel & accommodation
Share of loss of associates
Other expenses
Total Expenses
Net Surplus/(Deficit) before Taxation
Taxation
Net Surplus/(Deficit) for the Period

(ii)
(iii)

$

$

$

7,590,446

-

7,590,446

7,364,521
27,484
1,593,370
123,284
22,232
169,051
784,467
164,050
103,648
133,779
329,115
1,857,606
12,672,607

65,000
(22,232)
-

42,768

7,364,521
27,484
1,658,370
123,284
169,051
784,467
164,050
103,648
133,779
329,115
1,857,606
12,715,375

(5,082,161)

(42,768)

(5,124,929)

$(5,082,161)

$(42,768)

$(5,124,929)

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Board and Management are committed to ensuring
that the Company maintains Corporate Governance
structures which ensure that the Company operates
efficiently and effectively in shareholders’ best
interest, but at the same time recognised that certain
elements of international “best practice” corporate
governance are not appropriate for a small company.
This statement of Corporate Governance provides a
summary of the Company’s Corporate Governance
processes.
The Company’s Corporate Governance policies meet
the nine principles of corporate governance issued by
the Securities Commission. The nine principles are:
– Ethical standards
– Board composition and performance
– Use of Board Committees where this would
enhance effectiveness
– Reporting and disclosure
– Remuneration of Directors and Executives
– Risk management
– Quality and independence of the external audit
process
– Shareholder relations
– Shareholder interest
Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the
Company’s financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the company and its
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financial performance and cash flows for the year.
The external auditors are responsible for expressing
an opinion on the financial report, based on their
review and assessment of the conclusions drawn
from evidence obtained in the course of the audit.
The Directors believe that proper accounting records
have been kept which enable, with reasonable
accuracy, the determination of the financial position
of the company and facilitate compliance of the
financial statements with the Financial Reporting
Act 1993.
After reviewing internal management financial
reports and budgets the Directors believe that the
Company will continue to be a going concern in the
foreseeable future. For this reason they continue
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements. Please refer to Note 33 for
additional information.
Role of the Board of Directors
Directors are elected by the shareholders to govern
the Company in the shareholders’ best interests. The
Board is the overall and final body of responsibility
for all decision making within the Company.
The Directors have a diverse range of expertise
and experience, and are committed to use this to
benefit the Company. The Board is responsible
to shareholders for charting the direction of
the Company by participating in the setting of

objectives, strategy and key policy areas. It is then
responsible for monitoring management’s running
of the business to ensure implementation is in
accordance with the agreed framework. The Board
delegates the conduct of the day-to-day affairs of the
Company to the Chief Executive Officer within this
framework.
The primary responsibilities of the Board include:
– establishing the long term goals of the Company
and strategic plans to achieve those goals;
– succession planning for the Chief Executive
Officer and the Board;
– risk management in order to protect its
employees, assets, earnings and reputation;
– reviewing and adopting the three-year plan and
operating budget produced annually;
– monitoring environmental, social and financial
performance;
– ensuring that the company has implemented
adequate systems of internal controls including
internal financial controls together with
appropriate monitoring of compliance activities;
– appointing and monitoring the Chief Executive
Officer and other executive managements and
determining their remunerations;
– communicating with shareholders and other
stakeholders; and
– approving the annual and half-year financial
reports.
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The Directors appoint a chair from amongst their
members. The Board supports separation of the
role of chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The
chairman’s role is to provide leadership and to
manage the Board effectively. The Chief Executive
Officer is not a director, and where necessary, the
Board will meet without the Chief Executive Officer
being present.
The Board receives reports from management and
has access to all of the information necessary for it
to effectively discharge its duties.
Board Membership and Independence
The Constitution currently sets the size of the Board
at a minimum of four and a maximum of seven
members. At least three Directors must be resident
in New Zealand. The Board currently comprises six
Directors, comprising a Chairman and five Directors
appointed for their mix of commercial and technical
skills. The Board aims to meet on six occasions
in the financial year. Under the Company’s
constitution, one third of all Directors must retire
every year, but can be re-elected at an annual
meeting if eligible.
Two of the Company’s directors, Gregory Hinton and
Richard Le Grice also serve in an executive director
capacity. There are three independent members,
Dr Wayne Burt, Grant Paterson and Dr Arthur Allison.
A director is “independent” when he or she does not
have any direct or indirect interest or relationship
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with the Company which could reasonably influence,
in a material way, that Director’s decisions relating
to the Company. The Board will consider all relevant
circumstances when determining independence, but
is of the view that a Director cannot be independent
where the Director, or an associated person of the
Director:
– is a substantial security holder in the Company;
or
– has a relationship with the Company (other than
being a Director of the Company) under which
the Director or associated person is likely to
derive a substantial portion (generally 10% or
more) of their annual revenue or income from the
Company.
The Company has no requirement for Directors to
hold shares in the Company but actively encourages
them to do so.
The Board as a whole is involved with
recommending candidates to act as Directors to
shareholders. When considering candidates for
nomination, the Board will consider, amongst other
things, the individual’s experience, qualifications
and skills in comparison to the experience,
qualifications and skills of other Directors, whether
that individual is “independent” and whether that
individual would be able to work effectively with
other Directors. The Board has the ability to appoint
an individual to fill a casual vacancy on the Board

until the Company’s next Annual General Meeting.
The procedures for the appointment and removal
of Directors are governed by the Company’s
constitution. The constitution provides for one third
of the Company’s Directors (rounded, if necessary,
to the nearest number) to retire and stand for reelection at every Annual Meeting, those Directors to
retire being those who have been in office longest
since they were elected or deemed to be elected.
Total Directors’ remuneration is fixed by shareholders
at the Company’s Annual General Meeting, upon the
recommendation of the Board as a whole. Within
that cap, the Board is responsible for determining
the remuneration paid to each Director.

STATEMENT OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Conflicts of Interest
The Company’s constitution sets out the procedure
to be followed where Directors are faced with a
conflict of interest. At all times a Director must be
able to act in the interests of the organisation as
a whole and in accordance with all relevant laws,
including the NZX Listing Rules. The interests and
associates, individual shareholders and the personal
interests of the Director and his family must not be
allowed to prevail over those of the Company and its
shareholders generally.
Audit, Risk Management and Internal Financial Control
The Board has overall responsibility for risk
management and the Company’s system of internal
financial control, for liaising with the Company’s
external auditors, and for ensuring the integrity
of the Company’s financial reporting. The Board
constantly monitors the operational and financial
aspects of the Company’s activities and has
established procedures and policies that are
designed to provide effective internal financial
control. Annual budgets and business plans are
prepared, and agreed by the Board. Monthly
management accounts are prepared and reviewed
by the Board throughout the year to monitor
performance against budget.
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recommendations made by the external auditors
and other external advisers are investigated and,
where considered necessary, action is taken to
ensure that the company has an appropriate internal
control environment in place to manage the key risks
identified.
In addition, the Board investigates ways of
enhancing existing risk management strategies,
including appropriate segregation of duties and the
employment and training of suitably qualified and
experienced personnel.
Given the size of the company an internal audit
function is not considered necessary.
NZX Corporate Best Practice Code
The Company’s Corporate Governance processes do
not materially differ from the principles set out in
the NZX Corporate Governance Best Practice Code.

The Board considers the recommendations and
advice of external auditors and other external
advisors on the operational and financial risks
that face the Company. The Board ensures that
A2 CORPORATION LIMITED
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The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Alternative Market (“NZAX”) on the New Zealand Stock Exchange. Details in regard to such securities are as follows:
1. Substantial Security Holders
The Company’s register of substantial security holders, prepared in accordance with section 26 of the Securities Amendment Act 1988 recorded the following
information as at 13 May 2008:
Name

Date of Notice

No’s

%

Mountain Road Investments Limited
Ulrike McLachlan

03 Nov 2005
03 Nov 2005

82,038,733
7,378,563

54.298
4.883

2. Directors’ Shareholdings
Directors held the following equity securities in the Company at 31 March 2008:
Name of Director

Associated Entity

Beneficial
No’s

%

C J Cook
G P Hinton

Mountain Road Investments Limited

73,834,860

48.868

8,203,873

5.430

Mountain Road Investments Limited

8,203,873

5.430

73,834,860

48.868

W L Burt

Lotus Capital Biotechnology

4,713,066

3.119

Nil

-

A J Allison

Private

809,000

0.535

Nil

-

R G Paterson

Private

137,256

0.091

737,110

0.488

G P Hinton

Private

1,872

0.000

Nil

-
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3. Twenty Largest Equity Security Holders
The names of the 20 largest holders of equity securities as at 13 May 2008 are
listed below:
Top 20 Shareholders
Mountain Road Investments Limited
Ulrike McLachlan
New Zealand Central Securities Depository
Lotus Capital Biotechnology Limited
Forsyth Barr Custodians Limited
Custodial Services Limited
Edinburgh Securities Limited
Peter Bruce Hinton
Melissa Cherie Batten
Marint Limited
Lee Paterson Trust Company Limited
Jock Allison & Hilary Allison
FNZ Custodians Limited
Rio Keith Bond
Titmotu Holdings Limited
Garry Robertson
Sundry Investments Limited
Raewyn Hall
Pluteus (No 164) Pty Limited
Circada Limited
Punchestown Family Trust

No’s

%

82,038,733
7,378,563
5,180,500
4,713,066
3,070,800
2,550,784
2,495,000
1,893,064
1,656,609
1,500,000
947,712
809,000
633,047
619,530
608,550
600,000
600,000
525,943
505,596
500,000
450,000

54.30
4.88
3.43
3.12
2.03
1.69
1.65
1.25
1.10
0.99
0.63
0.54
0.42
0.41
0.40
0.40
0.40
0.35
0.33
0.33
0.30

$119,276,497

78.95%

CONTINUED

4. Spread of Security Holders at 13 May 2008:
No. of Holders
1-1000
151
1,001-5,000
420
5,001-10,000
247
10,001-100,000
399
100,000 shares or more
93
Total

1,310

%
0.07
0.79
1.26
8.63
89.25

No’s
97,757
1,190,188
1,910,102
13,044,522
134,844,952

100.00

151,087,521

5. Credit Rating Status
Not applicable.
6. Waivers Granted by NZX or Market Surveillance Panel
No material waivers were sought or granted during the financial year.
7. Corporate Governance Policies
In conjunction with its advisors, the Company applies best practice philosophy
wherever possible in the execution of its operations, financial management,
corporate business administration and practices. In every arena, due regard
is given to the consideration of compliance in operational performance and
reporting in order to ensure this outcome.
8. Appointed Directors
No new Directors were appointed during the year.
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Particulars of notices or statements given to or approved by the Board

Entity

Interests Register
Directors have declared interests during the period as follows:

DHT Limited
Duke Engines Limited
Gingold Holdings Limited
Great Northern Land Company Limited
HIS Holdings Limited
HIS Investments Limited
Martinborough Cottage Grove Limited
Mountain Road Investments Limited
MRIHHL Limited
Newmarket Limited
NSI Management Limited
Parnell Investment Holdings Limited
Private Health Care (NZ) Limited
PHC Equities Limited
PHC Treasury (UK) Limited
PHC Treasury Limited
PHC (UK) Investments Limited
PHC Yacht Charters Limited
Rail Land Lease Limited
Renaissance Lifecare Limited
Renaissance Lifecare Plc
Sanctuary Residences Limited
Shubourne Holdings Limited
Tasman Retirement Village Limited
Waiheke Retirement Village Limited
WRV Holdings Limited

– The Company has arranged and paid for policies for Directors’ liability
insurance which ensure that the Directors are protected against liabilities
and costs for acts or omissions by them in their capacity as Directors of the
Company.
Other Positions Held
Directors also hold the following positions with the following entities. This
declaration serves as notice that the director may benefit from any transactions
between the Company and the disclosed entities.
Name of Director

Entity

C J Cook

25 Broadway Limited
45 South Cherries Limited
45 South Exports Limited
Director
46 Parnell Road Properties Limited
Arran Bay Estates Limited
Director
Castle Drive Securities Limited
Director
Chain Hill Farm Limited
Director
Chesapeake Cook Limited
Chesapeake Lake View Limited
Chesapeake Limited
Cook Advisory Services Limited
Director
Cook Industrial Holdings Limited
Cook Property Holdings Limited
Cook Retirement Village Group Limited
Cook Retirement Village Holdings Limited
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Position

/
/
/
/

/

Director
Director
Shareholder
Director
Shareholder
Shareholder
Shareholder
Director
Director
Director
Shareholder
Director
Director
Director
Director

Position
Director / Shareholder
Director
Director / Shareholder
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director / Shareholder
Director
Director
Director / Shareholder
Director
Director
Director
Shareholder
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director / Shareholder

STATUTORY INFORMATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

Name of Director

Entity

Position

G P Hinton

11 Bridge Street (NZ) Limited
Director
25 Broadway Limited
Director
45 South Cherries Limited
Director / Shareholder
45 South Exports Limited
Director /Shareholder
46 Parnell Road Properties Limited
Director
Arney Developments Limited
Director / Shareholder
Belmont Trading Coy Limited
Director
Castle Drive Securities Limited
Director
Chain Hill Farm Limited
Shareholder
Cheaspeake Lake View Limited
Director
Chesapeake Cook Limited
Director
Chesapeake Limited
Director
Chesapeake Tasman Limited
Director
Colorite Group Limited
Director
Community Housing Limited
Director
Cook Advisory Services Limited
Director
Cook Industrial Holdings Limited
Director
Cook Property Holdings Limited
Director
Cook Retirement Village Group Limited
Director
Cook Retirement Village Holdings Limited
Director
DHT Limited
Director
Energi New Zealand Limited
Director
Ferryhill Holdings Limited
Director
Gingold Holdings Limited
Director
Great Northern Land Company Limited Director / Shareholder
Healthphone Holdings Limited
Director
Hobsonville Land Company Limited
Director
Housing New Zealand Limited
Director
Jefton Investments Limited
Director
Marne Street Hospital Limited
Director

Entity

Position

Martinborough Cottage Grove Limited
Molyneux Management Limited
Mountain Road Investments Limited
Director
MRIHHL Limited
Newmarket Limited
Nikau Investments (2001) Limited
Director
North Harbour Property 369 Limited
NSI Management Limited
PHC Equities Limited
PHC Treasury (UK) Limited
PHC Treasury Limited
PHC (UK) Investments Limited
PHC Yacht Charters Limited
Private Health Care (NZ) Limited
Rail Land Lease Limited
Director
Renaissance Lifecare Limited
Sanctuary Albany Limited
Sanctuary Residences (Australia) Limited
Sanctuary Residences Limited
Shubourne Holdings Limited
Southern Nursing Bureau Limited
Tasman Retirement Village Limited
Thode Knife & Saw Limited
Waiheke Retirement Village Limited
Waiwera Valley Properties Limited

Director
Director
/ Shareholder
Director
Director
/ Shareholder
Shareholder
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
/ Shareholder
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
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Name of Director

Entity

Position

Name of Director

Entity

Position

R G Paterson

Arthurton Dairy Farm Limited
Beecroft Holdings Limited
Blue Mountain Dairy Farms Limited
Centre Road Dairy Farm Limited
Clydevale Dairy Farms Limited
Con-Agra Limited
Dairy Trust Limited
Downs Road Dairy Farm Limited
E-Media Limited
Greenfield Farming Limited
Hillend Developments Limited
Hope Holdings Limited
Kaihiku Dairy Farm Limited
Mandell Limited
Mandeville Dairy Farms Limited
Organic Milk Company of New Zealand Limited
Otago Consultants Limited
Otago Spraying Limited
Otamita Dairy Farm Limited
Paratai Dairy Farm Limited
Popotunoa Dairy Farms Limited
RG Paterson Holding Limited
South Otago Dairy Holdings Limited
Southern Dairy Farms Limited
Southern New Zealand Dairy Limited
Southland Dairy Consultants Limited
Waipahi Dairy Farms Limited
Whitecoomb Farming Co. Limited
Winton Dairy Holdings Limited

Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

A J Allison

AJA Consulting Limited

Director

W L Burt

Bear III Investments Limited

Director
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Name of Director

Entity
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Position

Richard Le Grice Braveheart Moke Lake Limited
Shareholder
Colorite Group Limited
Director/Shareholder
Colortronic Holdings Limited
Director
Colorite Engraving Limited
Director
Eady Le Grice Limited
Director/Shareholder
Energi New Zealand Limited
Director/Shareholder
Foxton Properties Limited
Shareholder
Golconda Investments Limited
Director/Shareholder
Highbury Developments Limited
Shareholder
Lonsdale 2005 Limited
Shareholder
Multivision Technologies Limited
Director/Shareholder
NZ Saw Limited
Director/Shareholder
New Zealand Lifecare Management Limited
Shareholder
Preprint Solutions Limited
Director/Shareholder
Thode Knife & Saw Limited
Director/Shareholder
Riverside Lodge (2005) Limited
Shareholder
Vancouver Land Company Limited
Shareholder

Directorships of Subsidiary Companies
Directors also hold the position of director with the following companies in
which A2 Corporation Limited has ownership interests. No Director of any
subsidiary company received any director fees or any other benefits during
the year.
Name of Director

Name of Entity

Ownership Interest

C J Cook

Option Scheme Limited

100%

G P Hinton

Option Scheme Limited
A2 Exports Limited
A2 Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited

100%
100%
50%

R Le Grice

A2
A2
A2
A2
A2

100%
100%
100%
100%
50%

Finance Limited
Exports Limited
Australian Investments Pty Limited
Exports Pty Limited
Dairy Products Australia Pty Limited

A2 CORPORATION LIMITED

95

STATUTORY INFORMATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2008 CONTINUED

Directors’ Remuneration
The following fees were paid or payable to Directors during the year for their
services as Directors of the Company:

Employee Remuneration
During the year the following numbers of employees received remuneration of at
least $100,000.

A J Allison
W L Burt
C J Cook
G P Hinton
R G Paterson
R Le Grice

Number of employees
$100,000 to $109,999
$110,000 to $119,999
$120,000 to $129,999
$130,000 to $139,999
$140,000 to $149,999
$150,000 to $159,999
$160,000 to $169,999
$170,000 to $179,999
$180,000 to $189,999
$190,000 to $199,999
$200,000 to $209,999

15,000
15,000
15,000
21,000
15,000
7,000

Share Options
The share options held by Directors at 31 March 2008, in accordance with
Note 2 of the Financial Statements were:
Name of Director

Options Held

Dates Allocated

W L Burt
A J Allison
R G Paterson
R Le Grice
R Le Grice

360,000
100,000
60,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

October
October
October
February
March

2003
2003
2003
2006
2007

Expiry Date
September
September
September
March
March

2008
2008
2008
2009
2010

Directors Loans
There were no loans from the Company to Directors.
Use of Company Information
The Board received no notices during the period from Directors requesting to
use the Company information received in their capacity as Directors which
would not have been otherwise available to them.
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1
1
1
1

Donations
The Company made no donations during the period ended 31 March 2008.
Sub-Committees
The Board has formally constituted the following sub-committees, which
convene twice annually or as required:
Audit:
Dr A J Allison
G P Hinton
R G Paterson

Remuneration:
C J Cook
G P Hinton
R G Paterson

Research & Development:
Dr A J Allison

AUDIT REPORT
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING

NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
NOTICE is hereby given that an Annual Meeting of shareholders of A2 Corporation
Limited (the “Company”) for the year ended 31 March 2008 will be held at the
Epsom Room, Ellerslie Event Centre, 80-100 Ascot Avenue, Greenlane, Auckland
on Friday 26 September 2008, commencing at 2.00 pm.
BUSINESS
The business of the meeting is comprised of ordinary business as follows:
s 2ECEIVING AND CONSIDERING THE #OMPANYS lNANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR
ended 31 March 2008.
s 4HE ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
s 2EAPPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS
s #ONSIDERING ANY GENERAL BUSINESS !LL NECESSARY RESOLUTIONS ARE SET OUT BELOW
Terms which are used frequently in this notice have been capitalised, and are
defined in the definitions sections at the end of this notice.
RESOLUTIONS
Ordinary Business
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. To receive and consider the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2008 together with the Directors’ and Auditors’ reports.
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
In accordance with the Company’s constitution:
2. Mr Gregory Paul Hinton; and
3. Dr Arthur John (Jock) Allison, each retires by rotation and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

AUDITORS
4. To record the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company and
to authorise the Board of Directors to fix their remuneration for the ensuing year.
PROXIES
A shareholder entitled to attend and vote may appoint a proxy to attend and
vote on that shareholder’s behalf. The proxy need not be a shareholder of the
Company. Proxy forms must be received at the office of the Share Registrar, Link
Market Services Limited, not less than 48 hours prior to the date and time of the
meeting. A proxy form is enclosed with this notice.
CORPORATE REPRESENTATIVES
A corporation which is a shareholder may appoint a representative to attend the
meeting on its behalf in the same manner as it could appoint a proxy.
POSTAL VOTING
A shareholder is entitled to exercise his/her vote at the meeting by casting a
postal vote. A postal voting form is incorporated in the proxy form.
REQUISITE MAJORITIES
1. Ordinary resolutions require the approval of a simple majority of the votes of
those shareholders entitled to vote and voting (in person or by proxy) in order
for them to be passed.
2. Special resolutions require the approval of a 75% majority of the votes of
those shareholders entitled to vote and voting (in person or by proxy) in order
for them to be passed.
By order of the Board of Directors.

Cliff Cook, Chairman
14 July 2008
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Unless directed otherwise, the proxy will vote as he or she thinks fit, or abstain
from voting.

I/We _________________________________________________________________
of ___________________________________________________________________
Shareholder Number ___________________________________________________
being a shareholder of A2 Corporation Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:
______________________________________________________________________
of ___________________________________________________________________
or failing him/her ______________________________________________________
of ___________________________________________________________________
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Annual Meeting of
the Company to be held on Friday 26 September 2008 and at any adjournment
thereof. In respect of the matters listed below, I/we direct my/our proxy to vote in
the following manner:
AGENDA ITEM

Tick appropriate box

ORDINARY BUSINESS
In Favour
1.

Receive the annual report, including the financial
statements

2.

Re-elect Mr Gregory Paul Hinton

3.

Re-elect Dr Arthur John (Jock) Allison

4.

Record re-appointment of Auditors and to
authorise Directors to fix their remuneration for
the ensuing year

Against

Signed this
day of
2008
Signature/s: ___________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
NOTES
1. To be valid, this proxy form and the power of attorney or other authority, if any,
under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power of attorney
must be received by Link Market Services Limited, 138 Tancred Street, PO Box
384, Ashburton, not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.
2. Any shareholder is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting of the Company in place of such shareholder. A proxy need not be a
shareholder of the Company.
3. If this form is returned without a direction as to how the proxy shall vote on any
particular resolution, the proxy will exercise the proxy’s discretion as to whether to
vote and, if so, how.

EXPLANATORY NOTES
PROXIES AND REPRESENTATIVES
1. Proxies must reach the Company’s registered office 48 hours before the time of the
special meeting. If a shareholder wishes to post the proxy form, it should be posted
to A2 Corporation Limited, C/- Link Market Services Limited, 138 Tancred Street,
PO Box 384, Ashburton in the self addressed envelope enclosed with the proxy
form, to arrive not later than 48 hours prior to the date and time of the meeting.
2. Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote may appoint another person as proxy
to attend and vote on their behalf. A proxy need not necessarily be a shareholder
of the Company.
3. A corporation which is a shareholder of the Company may by resolution of its
directors or other governing body authorise such person as it thinks fit to act as its
representative at the special meeting.
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